

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Examining Middle and High School Administrators Strategies to Support Parent Involvement and Student Achievement

Rosalind Marie Ellis Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Educational Administration and Supervision Commons

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Rosalind M. Ellis

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Robert Flanders, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty

Dr. Kathleen Kingston, Committee Member, Education Faculty

Dr. David Moffett, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Examining Middle and High School Administrators Strategies to Support Parent Involvement and Student Achievement

by

Rosalind M. Ellis

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education
Administrative Leadership

Walden University

May 2022

Abstract

Middle and high school administrators in a Midwest school district needed to implement strategies to support parent involvement. The purpose of this qualitative case study was to examine how middle and high school administrators implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. The conceptual framework that supported this study was Epstein's framework of six types of involvement. The research questions focused on how middle and high school administrators implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement and how the administrators perceived the effectiveness of the strategies they implemented. Semistructured interviews were used to collect data from the eight middle and high school administrators. Data from the interviews were sorted and analyzed into patterns, concepts and themes. A thick, rich description summarized the strategies used to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. Findings showed a relationship between parent involvement and student achievement. Implementing strategies to support parent involvement was shown to have considerable influence on student achievement. Schools should provide meaningful roles for parents, offer mentoring and training, involve community partnerships, incorporate effective parent communication, include parents in the development of school vision and mission statements, and address the challenges that interfere with parent involvement. Implementing parent involvement strategies through shared values, networking, and mutual support that come with schools, parents, and community working together positive social change may also occur.

Examining Middle and High School Administrators Strategies to Support Parent Involvement and Student Achievement

by

Rosalind M. Ellis

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education
Administrative Leadership

Walden University May 2022

Dedication

I dedicate this in memory of my mother who was my best friend for always being there for me both in person and in spirit. I will always be eternally grateful for all you did for me and the way you continued to keep me encouraged. I miss you so much.

I also dedicate this and say thank you to my wonderful husband, James, whose kind and gentle support has allowed me to successfully reach my goals. You have been there patiently by my side every day and I'm grateful for your confidence in me.

And finally, to all my friends and family (especially my son Marcus, granddaughter Amanda and Pastor Carolyn), I thank you for always being there for me.

Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge and thank my committee chair, Dr. Robert Flanders, my second committee member Dr. Kathleen Kingston and committee member, Dr. David W. Moffett. Your guidance and encouragement have inspired me to be successful in reaching my goals. Your insight, perception and experience helped me through the hurdles. I greatly appreciated your support.

Table of Contents

List	of Tables	ĺV
Cha	pter 1: Introduction to the Study	. 1
	Background	.3
	Problem Statement	. 5
	Purpose of the Study	6
	Research Questions	.7
	Conceptual Framework	.7
	Nature of the Study	8
	Definitions1	0
	Assumptions1	0
	Scope and Delimitations1	. 1
	Limitations1	.3
	Significance1	.3
	Summary1	4
Cha	pter 2: Literature Review1	.6
	Literature Search Strategy1	.8
	Conceptual Framework/Theoretical Foundation1	9
	Literature Review Related to Key Concepts and Variables	20
	Parent Involvement May Influence Student Achievement2	<u>'</u> 1
	Parents Role in Schools	:3
	Barriers Causing Lack of Parent Involvement	:5
	Role of School Administrators and Staff	27

Summary and Conclusions	39
Chapter 3: Research Method	41
Research Design and Rationale	42
Role of the Researcher	44
Methodology	45
Participant Selection	45
Instrumentation	47
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	47
Data Analysis Plan	48
Trustworthiness	50
Ethical Procedures	50
Summary	52
Chapter 4: Results	54
Setting.	55
Data Collection	57
Data Analysis	59
Results.	64
Role of Parents in schools	65
Role of Schools in Support of Parent Involvement	67
The Importance of Communication	70
The Role of Leadership	75
Challenges Supporting Parent Involvement	77
The Relationship between Parent Involvement and Student Achie	evement79

District Resources and Institutional Support	81
Evidence of Trustworthiness	82
Summary	83
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	86
Interpretation of the Findings	87
Parent Involvement Strategies Related to the Role of Parents	87
Parent Involvement Strategies Related to the Role of Schools	88
Parent Involvement Strategies Related to Communication	89
Parent Involvement Strategies Related to Leadership	91
Challenges Related to Parent Involvement	92
The Relationship Between Parent Involvement and Student Achievement	94
Conceptual Framework	95
Limitations of the Study	98
Recommendations	98
Implications Positive Social Change	100
Implications for Future Research	102
Conclusion	102
References	104
Appendix A: Partner Organization Agreement	115
Appendix B: Interview Questions	116
Annendix C: Case Study Protocol	117

List of Tables

Table 1: Six Types of Involvement	20
Table 2: Key Words and Phrases	60
Table 3: Themes from Interviews	61
Table 4: Participants Strategies.	92

Middle and high school administrators in a Midwest school district needed to implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement at their schools. There was a need to research and examine how middle and high school administrators facilitated the influence of student achievement and identify strategies that were more effective with parents. Social change may occur when effective parent involvement strategies are implemented through shared values, networking, and mutual support that come with schools, parents, and community working together.

Middle and high school administrators were met with the need to improve student achievement and effectively support parent involvement since federal and state mandates required schools to develop systemic programs to work more effectively with parents.

Furthermore, the Midwest District School Board required school administrators to implement parent/family involvement programs and strategies that may influence student achievement. In parallel, a survey conducted by the state disclosed several areas of concern from parents in the Midwest school district. Additionally, middle and high school administrators expressed difficulties regarding ways to address the concerns associated with both student achievement and parental involvement.

A case study research design was used in this study. The research design provided an opportunity to collect data that examined how school administrators implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. The case study looked at the problem bounded by common experiences within a natural setting. I was the primary instrument for data collection. Epstein's (2001) conceptual

framework informed the interview protocol, data analysis, and interpretation of results of this case study. The following research questions guided the study.

- 1. How do middle and high school administrators implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?
- 2. How do middle and high school administrators perceive the effectiveness of the strategies they implement to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?

During the data analysis process, data from the interviews were sorted and analyzed into patterns, concepts and themes. A thick, rich description summarized the strategies used to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement.

This chapter will discuss the background regarding the concerns faced by school administrators from the Midwest school district. A detailed discussion regarding the problem and purpose will be presented as well as a review of the research questions and conceptual framework that informed the interview protocol, data analysis, and interpretation of results of this qualitative case study. Finally, the definitions, assumptions, scope and delimitations, limitations, and significance of the study will be presented.

Background

Administrators from the Midwest school district were faced with two major concerns. First, was the need to improve student achievement. Statewide standardized tests in Grades 7, 8, and 10 revealed that in 2018 approximately 58.9% of students were at proficiency in math and language arts on the state-wide standardized test compared to only 24.3 % of students were at proficiency in math and language arts in the Midwest school district. Similarly, in 2019, approximately 60.3 % of students were at proficiency on the state-wide standardized test in math and language arts compared to only 23.3 % of students were at proficiency in math and language arts in the Midwest school district (State Department standardized test reports, 2018-19).

Second, parents from the Midwest school district disclosed several areas of concern in a state survey. Parents completing the survey indicated a need to be more involved with decision-making, building positive relationships, developing better communication, and receiving guidance with schoolwork at home (State Department Parent Survey, 2019). Furthermore, federal and state legislators created mandates that required schools to develop systemic programs to work more effectively with parents (Day & Dotterer, 2018). For example, the United States Department of Education enacted Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA), that required school districts who received federal funds to have a local policy that developed and enhanced parent involvement programs.

Additionally, the District School Board adopted a Strategic Plan which required school administrators to initiate the following goals: (a) schools will implement and coordinate "best practice" models of parent/family involvement programs, and (b)

schools will implement strategies to support student achievement that meet or exceed state-wide proficiency standards (Strategic Plan 2019, Midwest District School Board meeting minutes). Moreover, according to the Assistant Superintendent of the Midwest school district, middle and high school administrators expressed difficulties regarding ways to address the concerns associated with both student achievement and parental involvement (Assistant Superintendent, 2020). For this reason, the Assistant Superintendent recommended the need to research and examine how middle and high school administrators facilitated the support of student achievement and identify strategies that were more effective with parents in the areas of decision making, building relationships, improving communications, receiving guidance with homework, and other parental involvement concerns (Assistant Superintendent, personal communication, February 2021).

A review of the current literature helped to determine the purpose and need for this study. While the Midwest school district did not conclude that inadequate test scores and parental concerns were connected, Benner et al. (2016) found parental involvement in schools was strongly linked to students' academic success. Parent involvement may influence student achievement. According to Mac Iver et al. (2018), there was a need for schools to give more systematic attention to involving parents and provide them with information and strategies for supporting their students' academic achievement. Cheung (2019) concluded that parents helped children to develop specific skills which reinforced a child's desire to do well in school and instilled the importance of school in children.

Researchers also identified a need for school administrators to examine how they implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. Duppong Hurley et al. (2019) examined three types of parent involvement: (a) school-based involvement, (b) home-based involvement, and (c) academic socialization. The researchers examined whether these models delivered a positive result with secondary students at risk for emotional and behavioral issues. Findings offered support for using the same frameworks of parental involvement with students in the general population and at-risk students. According to Duppong Hurley et al., parent involvement was a strategy which contributed to improved academic outcomes. Middle and high school administrators needed to identify strategies using these types of involvement to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. Also, the involvement of parents brought resources that influenced their children's academic achievement. There was a need to examine how middle and high school administrators in a Midwest school district implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement.

Problem Statement

Middle and high school administrators in a Midwest school district were faced with the need to implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement at their schools. Researchers found the need to support parent involvement. Marschall and Shah (2020) found that school administrators' guidance and support were positively and significantly related to increased support to parental involvement. Marschall and Shah also found that incorporating policies that support

parent involvement enhanced and encouraged parent participation. Similarly, Huggins et al. (2017) found that school administrators needed to work together with teachers and parents on implementing strategies that launch new programs. The case study addressed an identified gap in practice by examining how middle and high school administrators implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. Findings may also provide insight to schools throughout the Midwest school district and provide insight on how to implement federal, state, and local mandates requiring schools to develop systemic programs to work more effectively with parents (Day & Dotterer, 2018).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this case study was to examine how middle and high school administrators in a Midwest school district implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. Both the literature review and conceptual framework influenced this case study. For example, Hill et al. (2018) maintained that partnering with parents at the secondary level was complex since youth were developing their own identities. Hill et al. upholds student achievement as strongly related to parent involvement. Similarly, the conceptual framework used to frame the case study provided a model which focused on parent involvement through (a) communication, (b)volunteering, (c) learning at home, (d) decision-making, and (e) community collaboration. The conceptual framework helped to support the intent of the study by providing new insights on how school administrators supported parent

involvement. The study may also provide knowledge in the field of education regarding how parent involvement can influence the academic achievement of students.

Research Questions

- 1. How do middle and high school administrators implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?
- 2. How do middle and high school administrators perceive the effectiveness of the strategies they implement to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?

Conceptual Framework

Epstein's (2001) conceptual framework informed the interview protocol, data analysis, and interpretation of results of this case study. The framework applied both theory and research to show how schools, parents and community worked together in support of improving parent involvement. The Midwest school district middle and high school administrators expressed concerns regarding ways to address the concerns associated with parent involvement and student achievement (Assistant Superintendent of the Midwest school district, 2020). There was a need to identify strategies that were effective with parents in the areas of decision making, building relationships, improving communications, receiving guidance with homework and other parental involvement concerns (State Department Parent Survey, 2019). Epstein's (2001) framework utilized six types of parent involvement strategies: (a) parenting, (b) communicating, (c) volunteering, (d) learning at home, (e) decision-making, and (f) community collaboration

which assisted with informing the research questions of the study. Additionally, the Midwest District School Board adopted a Strategic Plan in which principals were asked to implement and coordinate "best practice" models of parent/family involvement programs. According to Bak and Srednicka (2018), Epstein's six types of involvement was a significant best practice model. Epstein's framework informed educators on how to develop and implement strategies to support parent involvement. Chapter 2 of this case study provides a more detailed explanation and support for use of this framework.

Nature of the Study

The purpose of this case study examined how middle and high school administrators in a Midwest school district implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. A case study design was used since a qualitative case study is an in-depth description and analysis of a bounded system (Merriam &Tisdell, 2016). Case bounding involved the following conditions: (a) collects multiple sources of data, (b) provides an in-depth look at an organization, and (c) provides a comprehensive understanding about a bounded unit (Burkholder et al., 2016). During this case study I interviewed eight middle and/or high school administrators in the Midwest school district with a minimum of two years' experience as a school administrator.

Several research designs were considered for this study. A quantitative research design was ruled out since this case study did not test a theory. Furthermore, other qualitative research designs were considered such as: (a) ethnography, the study of cultural groups, (b) phenomenology, related to patterns of individuals, (c) narrative,

related to individual stories, and (d) grounded theory, develops theory. However, a case study design was more appropriate than the others since the design: (a) aligned with my research problem, purpose and questions, (b) provided a detailed interview and analysis of the strategies that middle and high school administrators implemented to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement, (c) allowed the use of multiple data sources, (d) helped prevent the scope of the research from expanding beyond the original intent, (e) allows for a comprehensive understanding of the case being studied, (f) allows for the exploration of everyday real-life experiences, and (g) the researcher was the primary instrument for data collection and data analysis.

This methodology was also appropriate since this case study followed the characteristics related to qualitative research: (a) occurred in a natural rather than controlled setting, (b) collected data through words or artifacts that could be analyzed, (c) data collection techniques included individual interviews and analyzing documents, (d) incorporated the participants 'voice into the presentation of findings and (e) described some phenomenon as experienced by individuals or groups (Burkholder et al., 2016). Finally, in this case study, the researcher was the primary instrument of data collection and analysis. Semistructured interviews were used for data collection. I collected data from the interviews with school administrators and developed the collected data into patterns and themes. The following research questions steered the entire process:

1. How do middle and high school administrators implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?

2. How do middle and high school administrators perceive the effectiveness of the strategies they implement to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?

Definitions

Listed below are definitions related to this case study.

United States Department of Education enacted Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA): The United States Department of Education enacted Every Student Succeeds Act requiring schools that receive federal funds to have a local policy to develop and enhance parent involvement programs. ESSA implements the practice and structures needed to ensure that every child succeeds (Dennis, 2016).

Parent involvement: the practice of parents having influence in the academic achievement of their child such as: (a) School-base involvement (SBI) parent involvement activities occurring at school to support their child's education (e.g., volunteering, meetings, attending activities), (b) Home-base involvement (HBI) parent involvement activities occurring outside of school to support their child's education (e.g., help with homework, visiting museums) and (c) Home-school communication (HSC) parent involvement occurring when parents and school staff interact (e.g., talking with a school principal) (Anthony & Ogg, 2019).

Assumptions

The following assumptions were necessary since the purpose of the case study was to examine how school administrators implemented strategies to support parent

involvement that may influence student achievement. The assumptions were: (a) middle and high school administrators were willing to participate in the case study, (b) middle and high school administrators' have implemented strategies to support parent involvement, (c) middle and high school administrators were aware of the federal and local requirements regarding parent involvement, and (d) middle and high school administrators would provide sincere responses to the research questions.

Scope and Delimitations

The purpose of this case study was to examine how middle and high school administrators in a Midwest school district implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. Administrators in the Midwest school district were faced with several concerns: (a) the United States Department of Education enacted Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) which required schools that receive federal funds to have a local policy to develop and enhance parent involvement programs, (b) the Midwest district school board adopted a strategic plan which required school administrators to implement best practice models that provided support to parents (Strategic Plan 2019, Midwest District School Board Meeting Minutes), (c) school administrators expressed concerns with both student achievement and parent involvement, and (d) the Midwest school district assistant superintendent recommended the need to research and examine how middle and high school administrators facilitated the support of student achievement and identified strategies that were more effective with parents (Assistant Superintendent, 2020). A review of the current literature also helped to determine the purpose and need for this case study. Corcoran (2017) revealed a growing

interest in schools partnering with parents since parent involvement provided a means to improving student achievement. Moreover, Elbaum et al. (2016) observed that a recurrent finding in the literature focused on the importance of schools increasing communication with parents through enhanced parent involvement.

The boundaries of this case study included an in-depth look at the Midwest school district parent involvement efforts, located in the northern region of the United States, and interviewed middle and high school administrators with a minimum of two years' experience as a school administrator. Several frameworks were considered but ruled out for this study. For example, Duppong Hurley et al. examined three types of parent involvement at the secondary school level: (a) school-based involvement, (b) home-based involvement, and (c) academic socialization. The findings for this framework offered support for using with students in the general population and at-risk students but was limited to only three types of involvement. Similarly, Bhargava and Witherspoon (2015) examined the relationship between academic performance and parent involvement during adolescence. This research was limited to strategies such as home-base involvement (HBI), school-based involvement (SBI), and academic socialization. However, Bak-Srednicka (2018) found Epstein's six types of involvement as a significant "best practice model. As a result, Epstein's (2001) conceptual framework was used in this case study since it adequately informed the interview process, data analysis, and interpretation of results. Epstein's framework utilizes six types of parent involvement strategies: (a) parenting, (b) communicating, (c) volunteering, (d) learning at home, (e) decisionmaking, and (f) community collaboration. Furthermore, a rich, thick description

summarized the strategies needed to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. Transferability was enabled when a rich, thick description was used. (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

Limitations

Burkholder et al. (2016) identified the following possible limitations (a) the use of semistructured interviews does not provide precise measurement, (b) there may be limitations to the transferability of the findings due to a small sample size, (c) the study was conducted in a mid-size school district so generalizing the findings to a larger population may require caution, and (d) systemic biases may influence the study. I used the following measures to address these possible limitations: (a) limited the case study to eight school administrators allowed for in-depth interviews. According to Burkholder et al., sample size was not as important in qualitative case studies since the depth was more important than the breadth, (b) outlined specific reasons for administrator participation, and (c) used participant validation and member checks to address possible systemic and researcher bias. Researcher bias was addressed by using participant validation/member checks.

Significance

This case study provided an in-depth description of implemented strategies used by middle and high school administrators to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. Benner et al. (2016) found parent involvement in schools to be strongly linked to students' academic success. Findings from the study may provide insight on strategies to implement in support of parent involvement programs that can be

used in schools throughout the district and other areas of education. Additionally, findings may provide insight on strategies to support federal, state, and local mandates requiring schools to develop systemic programs to work more effectively with parents (Day & Dotterer, 2018). The United States Department of Education enacted Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA), requiring school districts that received federal funds to have a local policy to develop and enhance parent involvement programs. Additionally, the Midwest District School Board adopted a Strategic Plan in which principals were asked to implement: (a) "best practice" models of parent/family involvement programs, and (b) strategies to influence student achievement (Strategic Plan 2019, Midwest District School Board Meeting Minutes). Results of this case study may lead to positive social change when middle and high school administrators eliminate the concerns from parents regarding decision making, building relationships, improving communications, and receiving guidance with homework. According to Benner et al. (2016), parents' involvement continues to exert its influence 10 years later which points to the long reach of parental involvement in the lives of young people.

Summary

In summary, the purpose of this case study was to examine how middle and high school administrators in a Midwest school district implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. There was a need to examine strategies to support federal, state, and local mandates that required schools to develop systemic programs to work more effectively with parents. The United States Department of Education enacted ESSA, that required school districts receiving federal

funds to have a local policy to develop and enhance parent involvement programs. Additionally, the Midwest District School Board required school administrators to implement parent/family involvement programs and strategies that may influence student achievement (Strategic Plan 2019, Midwest District School Board Meeting Minutes). A review of the current literature helped to determine the purpose and need for this case study. Chapter 2 of this study provides a more comprehensive view of the literature and the significance of parent involvement in the academic lives of children.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Recent studies conducted on parent involvement revealed that traditional parent involvement approaches were not compatible with schools today. There were few studies which specifically examined the implementation of strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. Prior research was outdated and did not address the current difficulties and barriers that existed with families today. It was imperative to gain a better understanding of parent involvement and the possible relationship to student achievement.

The purpose of this case study was to examine how middle and high school administrators in a Midwest school district implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. The problem was middle and high school administrators in a Midwest school district needed to implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement at their schools. The following research questions steered the process:

- 1. How do middle and high school administrators implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?
- 2. How do middle and high school administrators perceive the effectiveness of the strategies they implement to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?

Epstein's (2001) conceptual framework was used in the case study. The framework utilizes six types of parent involvement strategies: (a) parenting, (b)

communicating, (c) volunteering, (d) learning at home, (e) decision-making, and (f) community collaboration.

A review of the literature revealed the need to further research parent involvement and the influence parents have on their child's achievement. Parent involvement was directly related to student achievement. Wassell et al. (2017) determined that a student's academic performance was directly related to the involvement of parents. Researchers also revealed a need to address the barriers faced by families. Parents are often faced with barriers that prevent them from being involved in their child's education. Camacho et al. (2016) identified several barriers related to lower levels of parental involvement such as employment, family problems, and stress.

Researchers found that the various roles of educators and parents in schools were multifaceted. Researchers highlighted the need to identify various strategies and interventions that helped educators to support parents that may influence the academic achievement of their children. Curry and Holter (2019) explored the perceptions parents had regarding their role in their child's education. Curry and Holter concluded that a better understanding of the factors, which influenced parent actions and attitudes toward their child's education was needed. Similarly, a study related to the role of educators supporting parents identified the need for school administrators, teachers, and key school personnel to develop skills that helped families effectively advocate for their children (Ferrara, 2017).

Foremost in the reviewed literature was the need for the implementation of strategies to support the involvement of parents. The suggested strategies and

interventions ranged from school personnel making home visits to mentoring parents. Yull and Wilson (2018) analyzed the impact of a Parent Mentoring Program. Findings indicated the program as beneficial for enhancing parent involvement. Cheung (2019) investigated the association of parent involvement and teacher-student relationships. The researcher concluded improved communications with parents may allow schools to develop effective strategies that helped students succeed in school. Administrative leadership was a major aspect discussed in the literature. School leaders were challenged to commit time and effort involving parents, as a result, more thoughtful and meaningful approaches were needed. Educators had a duty to coordinate activities of involvement for parents through classes, mentoring, tutoring, and seminars. A school administrators' personal and school-based vision impacted student learning (Mombourquette, 2017). The researcher found effective leadership included a vision for the school. Mombouquette found leadership practices of school administrators provided a focus on learning and set high expectations for students.

Literature Search Strategy

The literature search for my case study included a review of information and materials related to the strategies implemented by school administrators at the middle and high school levels that provided support to parent involvement and may influence student achievement. I identified three components related to involving parents: challenges, strategies and benefits. The following key words and phrases were used: (a) parent involvement, (b) student achievement, (c) challenges related to parent involvement, (d) benefits related to parent involvement, (e) strategies related to parent involvement, (f)

Home-Base Involvement, (g) School-Base Involvement, and (h) Home-School Communications. Researchers in the field of education were ascertained. Also, I utilized the Walden University librarian and bibliographical databases such as: (a) EBSCO, (b) JSTOR, (c) Eric and (d) Government publications. A search of peer reviewed journal articles and Google Scholar were used.

Conceptual Framework/Theoretical Foundation

Epstein's (2001) conceptual framework was used in the case study. Epstein's framework offered guidance to schools with examples of written plans, program implementation, and evaluation. This framework was based on the current research of Epstein et al. (2019), involving how district leaders assist schools in developing partnership programs that reached all families and increased student success. Table 1 shows Epstein's framework of 6 types of family involvement which included parenting, communication, volunteering, home tutoring, decision making, and community collaboration.

Table 1

Epstein's Framework of 6 types of Parent Involvement for School-Family-Community Partnerships

- 1. Parenting- schools will provide help to establish home environments to support children and students.
- 2. Communicating schools will provide school to home information about student progress and programs.
- 3. Volunteering schools will recruit and organize parent help and support.
- 4. Learning at home- schools will provide information to families about how to help students with homework and curriculum related activities.
- 5. Decision-making schools will include parents in school decisions, developing parent leaders, and representatives.
- 6. Community collaboration- schools will identify and integrate resources and services from the community to strengthen school programs, family practices, and student learning and development.

Epstein's framework has been used extensively by educators in working with parents (See Epstein, 2019; Bhargava &Witherspoon, 2015). Her approach was designed to assist schools in understanding how to develop parental involvement and partnerships. Epstein's framework was used in this study to help structure interview questions used to examine how middle and high school administrators implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. The conceptual framework was also used to support the results of the case study.

Literature Review Related to Key Concepts and Variables

A review of the literature discovered various aspects of supporting parent involvement in schools. From the literature three factors emerged regarding parent involvement: (a) the challenges school administrators need to overcome to support parent

involvement, (b) various strategies implemented to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement, and (c) the overall benefits of parent involvement. Researchers confirm, over time, parent involvement was associated with higher student achievement. Hill et al. (2018) explored the use of strategies to deepen the understanding of parent involvement in education. Hill et al. established student achievement as strongly related to parent involvement at the middle school level. Researchers also determined school success, improved school behavior, and improved mental health were linked to parent involvement. The literature demonstrated parent involvement may have a significant relationship to student achievement and should be supported by school administrators.

Parent Involvement May Influence Student Achievement

The existing literature indicated parent involvement as a significant strategy related to student achievement. Parent involvement helped to address the concerns administrators faced to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. According to Cheung (2019), parent involvement included a variety of practices which reflected parent's commitment to their child's academic achievement. Using different strategies to support parent involvement researchers confirmed that parent involvement may in fact influence student achievement. For example, Wassell et al. (2017) found parenting practices influenced academic outcomes. The study found parents' involvement in their children's middle school, their parenting practices, and socialization at home had both direct and indirect implications for children's academic success. The researchers unveiled parent monitoring, family management at the middle

school level, and working with school staff contributed to student success. Similarly, Garbacz et al. (2018) determined parent involvement at the middle school level predicted improvement in student achievement, social skills, and behavior problems.

Im et al. (2016) revealed the influences of parent involvement and peer relationships and how they worked together to shape academic achievement. According to the researchers, as students enter middle school, parents reduced direct academic involvement (talking to teachers, helping with homework) and became more dependent on their child's disclosure for information. Having the ability to shape academic achievement by enhancing parent involvement was a breakthrough for school administrators. Day and Dotterer (2018) established a need for policymakers to encourage parents to be more involved in their child's academic lives to improve academic outcomes. As a result, academic socialization and school-based involvement was found to be beneficial for all adolescents' grade point averages (Day & Dotterer, 2018).

Anthony and Ogg (2019) examined the various approaches to learning (ATL) to determine whether a relationship existed between parent involvement and student achievement. The study highlighted three types of parent involvement, (a) home-based Involvement (HBI), (b) school-based involvement, (SBI), and (c) home-school communication (HSC). During the study Anthony and Ogg (2019) determined at least two of the three types of parent involvement (HBI) and (SBI) were positively related to academic achievement. Home-Base Involvement and School-Base Involvement were also indicators of positive achievement in reading. Approaches To Learning strategies utilized

the rigorous method of persistent engagement which might help explain how parent involvement affected student achievement.

Benner et al. (2016) found significant links between school-based involvement and parent educational expectations since students demonstrated higher achievement on standardized tests, greater engagement and attention in school, and more promotions to the next level rather than retentions. Benner et al. (2016) articulated the importance of different facets of parent involvement such as: (a) home-based parent involvement as the focus on homework monitoring, (b) school-based parent involvement as volunteering at school, teacher communications and phone calls and emails, and (c) academic socialization as parents instilling the importance of education in their children. According to Benner et. al (2016), academic socialization appeared to be the most substantial benefit with consistent higher scores on achievement tests. According to Williams et al. (2017), parents are considered a crucial part of their child's education attainment and are arguably the closest to and most knowledgeable about their children's educational experiences.

Parent involvement was essential to student achievement. It provided support at both home and school. Existing research demonstrated a positive relationship between parent involvement and student achievement.

Parents Role in Schools

There were several studies relating to the parents' perspective of their role with school involvement. Reynolds et al. (2015) examined how and why parents became

involved with their children at the high school level. The focus was on motivators (a sense of self-esteem), contextual motivators (school, teacher, and students' invitations) and life-context variables (parent time, resources, skills, knowledge). The findings also determined that school administrators and teachers should make every effort to invite parents to school events. Curry and Holter (2019) examined parent relationships with other parents as motivators to become involved with their child's education. The researchers determined parent to parent relationships as important resources for parent role construction and efficacy and may serve to lessen the disconnect between parents and school involvement. Equally as important was how parents individually manage their family.

The literature showed the different perceptions parents had concerning their role for involvement in their child's education. Researchers from several studies revealed the desire of parents to become less involved in their child's education as the child got older and advanced into higher grades. Curry and Holter (2019) found parent involvement for all income and ethnicities declined during the teenage years. According to Curry and Holter, it was typical for parents to reduce their time spent with homework help and volunteering at school as their child matured. Similarly, Bhargava and Witherspoon (2015) found parents may choose to reduce involvement at the higher grade levels to encourage independence in their children. This decline of parent involvement may also align with efforts of less intrusiveness and foster self-sufficiency in their child. According to Bond (2019), parent involvement decreased in middle school. A strategy of flipped learning was used to collaborate academic skills and increased transparency for parents.

Findings revealed that there was a disconnect between what school leaders thought parents knew and what parents actually knew regarding student learning.

Often parents do not know how to advance more meaningful roles regarding the education of their children. Thus, it was essential for school administrators to consider the perspective of parents as they implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement.

Barriers Causing Lack of Parent Involvement

Despite the positive outcomes of parent involvement, middle and high school administrators still needed to implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. The literature revealed significant issues related to parent involvement, met by middle and high school administrators. Some parents were affected by the existence of insurmountable barriers, which prevented them from involvement in their child's school. These impediments included but were not limited to employment, economic factors, divorce, single-parent homes, lack of trust in the school staff, language barriers, and in some cases, homelessness. Camacho et al. (2016) investigated the barriers related to family involvement. Camacho et al. determined financial strain and major life events, such as experiencing a death in the family, were associated with lower levels of parent involvement. This absence of involvement included a lack of presence at school related events such as, open houses, extracurricular activities, and communication with their child's teachers and administrators and a lack of engagement in the home related to homework help and educational encouragement. Similarly, Wassell et al. (2017) examined the barriers of low-income families, primarily

single parent work schedules. Parents were restricted from involvement due to late work hours, second shifts, and having multiple jobs. Parents with non-traditional work schedules affect a child's home life because parents had less time to check homework and converse with their child about school. Wassell et al. (2017) highlighted drawbacks related to language barriers and complex issues related to parent involvement for English language learners. This added layer of complexity stressed both parents and school staffs due to different cultures and contrasting languages. This study exposed the problem of language barriers which made it difficult for parents to communicate with their child's teachers. Language barriers also hindered parents ability to support their child's schoolwork and understand schoolwide communications written in English. Alexander et al. (2017) examined whether barriers related to parental "noninvolvement" was negatively associated with students' academic achievement. Results from the study showed (a) parental lack of transportation, (b) feeling unwelcomed at school, and (c) conflict with work schedules as reasons for noninvolvement. According to Alexander et al. (2017), when students perceived that parental noninvolvement was due to parents feeling unwelcomed or uncomfortable at school, it negatively affected the student's GPA. Furthermore, Elbaum et al. (2016) examined the difficulties of barriers such as (a) race, (b) socioeconomic status, and (c) family size regarding the involvement of parents with students who have disabilities. According to Elbaum et al., parents with special education students reported a lack of respect from teachers and school administrators. Also, parents indicated a need for facilitation of parent involvement to improve services and results for their children. Findings from the study revealed a need for improved parent-school

communication which was found to be a predictor of student success especially, in children with disabilities.

Barriers play a significant role causing struggles in the areas of employment, divorce, single-parent families, trust in the school, language barriers, and homelessness. Parent involvement was affected by the presence of barriers, which prevent them from involvement in their child's school.

Role of School Administrators and Staff

School administrators had an obligation to implement strategies to support involvement for parents through mentoring, parent classes, tutoring, teacher training, policy and mission statements. Yull and Wilson (2018) examined the influence of a Parent Mentoring Program in a school setting. Three main themes emerged from this study: (a) parents progressed from marginalized outsiders to feeling accepted, (b) teachers describe their interactions with the parents as beneficial due to the program, and (c) parents began to feel part of the educational community. These findings provided support for school administrators to implement strategies similar to mentoring programs for supporting parent involvement. Additionally, Ferrara (2017) investigated how a teacher training course on family engagement provided a better understanding of parent involvement. The researcher determined school administrators, teachers, and key school personnel needed skills to help parents effectively advocate for their children. Ferrara recommended the PTA's National Standards six types of involvement to help families feel valued and connected with schools. The six types of involvement included: (a)

welcoming families into the school, (b) effective communication, (c) supporting student success, (d) speaking for every child, (e)sharing power, and (f) community collaboration. Ferrara's (2017) finding suggested school administrators ought to consistently involve parents to influence positive parent attitudes toward the school staff and therefore enhance parent involvement in support of their child's achievement. Similarly, Epstein et al. (2019) evaluated how school staffs engaged families as students transition to high school. According to Epstein et al., transition from middle school to high school was considered a time when students are most vulnerable. Findings indicated the need for schools to focus on Epstein's (2001) framework of six types of involvement: (a) parenting, (b) communicating, (c) volunteering, (d) learning at home, (e) decisionmaking, and (f) community collaboration. According to Green (2018), Epstein's framework was a good example of how schools function as key institutions that influenced student development and achievement. Bak-Srednicka (2018) examined whether direct contact with parents had any influence on a teachers-in-training program regarding the importance of parent involvement. Findings showed positive opinions from the teachers-in-training program regarding direct contact with parents using Epstein's Type 2 involvement: communication, and Type 4 involvement: help with learning activities at home. According to Bak-Srednicka, Epstein's six types of parental involvement may be a worthwhile framework for supporting parent involvement.

Similarly, Mac Iver et al. (2018) examined the process of continuous improvement with family engagement as students transition to high school. In the study researchers discovered high school parents believed they were unwelcomed at their

child's school. The parents experienced a lack of communication and desired more information regarding course and credit requirements from the school administrators. Mac Iver et al. (2018) uncovered the need for secondary school administrators to be more reflective in their approach to parent involvement. During this critical time of transition, there was a need for school administrators to (a) provide parent involvement activities that promoted teacher, student, and parent relationships, (b) identify and implement strategies to support parent involvement, and (c) equip parents with information which helped support student achievement. Mac Iver et al. (2018) concluded parent involvement to be strongly related to student achievement and increased academic tenacity. Likewise, Cheung (2019) investigated the academic adjustments of adolescents when they transitioned to middle school. The adjustments extended from instructional classes with higher expectations to social pressures. Cheung concluded by improving communications with parents, teachers gained important insights about student behaviors. This improvement in parent to teacher communication increased the knowledge of classroom expectations related to behavior such as students listening and focusing in the classroom. Furthermore, Kim and Bryan (2017) examined the relationship between parent empowerment and their child's academic performance. The study highlighted the importance of school administrators implementing parent empowerment strategies that help foster parent power and a sense of acceptance for parents. According to Kim and Bryan, parent empowerment was a necessary tool for combating oppression and systemic barriers. This strategy may allow school administrators to influence social change.

Some strategies implemented by school administrators could have an effect on the culture of the school. Wang et al. (2018) studied the effects of parental involvement and relationships with middle school children. The findings showed school staffs should recognize and promote a culture where parental involvement was valued, encouraged, and visible since it improved the mental health of children. Pellecchia et al. (2018) found direct requests on behalf of schools served as a powerful predictor of parental involvement. The findings showed the importance of school-parent based relationships.

Furthermore, Song et al. (2019) examined whether protective factors prevented young people from engaging in violent behaviors, which in turn kept them in school. Some of these factors included: (a) parent involvement, (b) schoolwide teacher training, and (c) evidence-based programs implemented by schools. The purpose of this study was to understand the degree to which these protective factors made an influence on the success of youth. Stefanski et al. (2016) examined strategies to foster meaningful parent involvement, these included (a) forming positive and trusting relationships, (b) outlining clear parent roles and responsibilities, (c) identifying shared resources, (d) acknowledging mutual benefits, (e) devising and implementing evaluation procedures that demonstrate the importance of ongoing parent involvement and collaboration, and (f) implementing IDEA mandates that required parent participation in education. Stefanski et al. (2016) studied whether partnerships between schools and communities: (a) supported student learning, (b) improved schools, and (c) strengthen families and neighborhoods. A driving force behind each of these partnerships was the expansion of school mission

statements to include health and social services for children and families. Because of the positive influence of parent involvement, policymakers created mandates that required educators to develop systemic programs to support parent involvement. Educational leaders at the district level recommended school administrators support and enhance stronger involvement of parents. Marschall and Shah (2020) investigated what school administrators were doing to engage parents and analyzed the efficacy of parent initiatives. According to Marschall and Shah, the implementation of school policies regarding parent involvement made a difference in student outcomes. Parent support such as school and home-based activities should be mandated in school policies (Marschall & Shah, 2020).

Consequently, middle and high school administrators needed to implement strategies to support parent involvement that promoted student achievement. The concerns encountered by school administrators demonstrated the need for future research, policy, and practice. As a result, these studies prescribed the need for more thoughtful and meaningful strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement for school administrators.

Strategies to Support Parent Involvement

Research indicated the need for parent involvement, especially during the middle and high school years. While the need to address parent concerns were arduous for school administrators, implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement are crucial. A review of the literature provided a collection of parent involvement strategies with positive outcomes for academic growth. In parallel,

Bhargava and Witherspoon (2015) examined the relationship between academic performance and parent involvement during adolescence. The researchers provided evidence that strategies such as Home-Base Involvement (HBI), and School-Based Involvement (SBI) decreased over time while Academic Socialization increased as students moved from 7th grade into high school.

An additional strategy for supporting parent involvement was metacognition (the understanding of one's own thought process). Veas et al. (2018) found metacognition to have a high predictive power on academic achievement. The results of this study emphasized parent involvement as crucial in the development of educational strategies. A different approach was examined by Francis et al. (2019) through positive transitions from high school. Findings revealed parents to be uninformed and uninvolved in the transition planning of their children. Six strategies were identified to support parent involvement. They were: (a) establish high expectations, (b) demonstrate commitment, (c) provide emotional support, (d) facilitate family networks, (e) provide information and (f) collaborate with family units.

On the other hand, Wright et al. (2018) examined the influence of a teacher home visit program on (a) classroom behavior, (b) academic achievement, and (c) parent involvement. Results of the study showed the teacher home visit program had a positive influence on students' academic and behavioral functioning at school. Students showed improvement in classroom behavior and study habits. Logins from the parent portal demonstrated home visits as having a positive effect on parent involvement. This parent involvement strategy improved relationships with parents, which in turn, increased

student achievement. The researchers concluded parents are more likely to be engaged in their child's progress in school if they feel they have a real partnership with the school staff. Wright et al. (2018) found home visits resulted in improvement of parent attitudes, attendance in conferences, and weekly communication through emails and phone calls.

While focusing on the support of parent involvement some researchers found parents were uncomfortable when providing assistance with homework. As an example, there was tension between desire and need to help particularly in mathematics. Knapp et al. (2017) examined the influence of parent involvement utilizing the study of math concepts. Data was collected and analyzed during a math minicourse for parents which included lessons in algebra and geometry. Knapp et al. used Epstein's Six Types of Parent Involvement which included (a) parenting, (b) communication, (c) volunteering, (d) assisting with homework, (e) community collaboration, and (f) decision-making. Qualitative evidence showed improved student performance in mathematics and parent involvement with math homework. The researchers found an increase in the child and parents content knowledge in the subject of mathematics and a boost in the students' achievement in math. The study suggested the need for school administrators to provide opportunities for parent involvement in mathematics. Additionally, Nunez et al. (2017) investigated whether students' perception of parent homework support was related to the achievement of middle and high school students. Homework behaviors were studied which included time spent on homework, and time management. In this study homework was identified as a natural connector of home and school. Homework was identified as the most common activity connecting teachers, students, and parents. Nunez et al.

revealed homework support as uncomfortable creating anxiety in both the child and parent. However, through the use of appropriate strategies, researchers found a positive correlation between homework support and academic success. The result of the study provided evidence regarding the importance of parent involvement with homework at the secondary school level. Related to these studies, Heddy & Sinatra (2017) examined the implementation of parent involvement during small group discussions in science. This study focused on transformative experiences in science. Heddy & Sinatra found girls interested in science decreased during middle and high school years and while lack of engagement increased. According to Heddy & Sinatra, parents served as a tool to increased educational connections in stem subjects. The researchers revealed as parent involvement increased, students showed more interest in academics. Similarly, Taeyeon (2018) examined school principals' perceptions of how transformative leadership related to social change. Findings showed that social change can occur through shared values, networking, and mutual support that come with schools, parents, and community working together.

Oswald et al. (2018) examined several strategies related to parent involvement such as parent participation in school, learning activities at home, and activities in the community. According to Oswald et al., parent involvement was empirically related to student academic performance and academic engagement. This study highlighted the improvement of a child's self-esteem regarding how to deal with emotions, self-regulation, and self-perception in the classroom. The researchers determined parent involvement to be a multifaceted range of parent attitudes and

behaviors. As with the studies previously discussed, greater parent involvement showed positive influence on student achievement. Kim (2018) compared the involvement of fathers and mothers in relation to the academic achievement of their children. This study examined the relationship between parent empowerment and student academic performance. The study examined the strength of the relationship between the father's involvement within the framework of family and school relationships. Fathers were positively associated with their child's academic performance. Kim's study established the importance of identifying strategies for parent involvement at school and at home. Implications from the study identified parent involvement as positively associated with student achievement for both fathers and mothers. The study found a strong association between father involvement and academic outcomes. Similarly, Haskins & Jacobsen (2017) examined whether formerly incarcerated parents (primarily father's) actively participated in their child's school-based activities. Fathers involved in the criminal justice system often refrain from parental involvement activities at school because they consider schools as surveilling institutions. According to Haskins & Jacobsen, the lack of parental involvement at school due to paternal incarceration caused damaging outcomes in the area of grades, behavior, testing, and school relationships. Therefore, children with incarcerated fathers may benefit with added support from teachers, counselors, and school administrators. On the other hand, Walker (2016) used Realizing the American Dream (RAD) program to describe the program's influence on Latino parents' beliefs, knowledge, and involvement behaviors. Findings revealed positive outcomes for parent involvement initiatives should (a) target a range of effective involvement behaviors that

support students' aspirations and socialization for school, and (b) address parents' beliefs and knowledge regarding the many ways they can and should be involved.

Parent involvement is recognized as having significant benefits for academic achievement. Actively involved parents in their child's education influenced schools to provide a better education for their children. One of the major benefits of parent involvement was a caring parent who was knowledgeable about and engaged in their child's education (Duppong-Hurley et al., 2019).

Leadership Practices to Support Parent Involvement

Effective leadership practices were necessary to manage, guide, and support parent involvement. School administrators also needed to examine various leadership strategies to address the struggles of influencing student achievement. Bagwell (2019) explored the framework of distributed leadership. Distributed leadership was a relatively new concept in the field of education which focused on the how of leadership. The data analysis in the study included an examination of the how and why of leadership procedures. Bagwell found that "school leaders, specifically principals, were left to figure out how to create conditions to improve instruction and increase academic achievement. According to Bagwell, the traditional leadership perspective in which one person, generally the principal, was responsible for enacting all leadership functions and responsibilities had quickly given way to a more distributed perspective of principal leadership. Findings from the study showed that distributed leadership framework involved the use of school staff which provided school principals with the opportunities to better support parent involvement. Furthermore, Mombouquette (2017) examined the

effect of the school administrators' school-based vision. Mombouquette (2017) determined that vision and leadership practices of school administrators should center on learning and setting high expectations for students. Mombouquette also emphasize the use of distributive leadership to inspire and involve parents with planning and decisionmaking at the school level. Similarly, Erol and Turhan (2018) examined the relationship between (a) distributed leadership, (b) family involvement, and (c) schools from the perspective of parents. Distributed leadership was defined as a leadership approach in which all stakeholders of an organization interacted in cooperation, acted with a common sense of responsibility, and worked to achieve common organizational goals (Erol & Turhan, 2018). The researchers found distributive leadership to be a significant predictor of parent involvement. Distributive leadership assured parents the opportunity to have a voice in school decision-making. Huggins et al. (2017) encouraged school administrators to utilize distributed leadership in their schools. According to Huggins et al., school administrators may be less enthusiastic about using shared leadership practices because distributed leadership requires principals to be open-minded and willing to take risks.

On the other hand, Corcoran (2017) examined how school leaders determined the direction of their leadership efforts. Findings showed a positive association between student achievement and the school principal. Principal leadership and parent involvement were linked and influenced student achievement. Schrik & Wasonga (2019) investigated the relationships among school principals' self-efficacy (instructional, moral, and leadership management). The intent of the study examined the principals' influence on student achievement. Findings showed significant positive

outcomes in student achievement due to the principal's expected outcomes in their students. Hermann (2019) studied the need for professional development for principals. The goal of an intensive professional development program was to improve student achievement by improving the principal's practices that affected student achievement. Findings showed this two-year professional development program was not effective with impacting student achievement. Therefore, implemented strategies for involving parents may be a better solution.

According to Bettini et al. (2020), alternative school settings were often overlooked and needed to include parents. School administrators played a significant role in their leadership practices since need for parent involvement was prevalent. Similarly, Guillaume et al. (2019) focused on how educators engaged with Latino parents and how they assisted in the academic success of Latino students. Findings revealed the need for staff to have cultural competence for the community and be culturally responsive in their practices. According to Guillaume, it was important for leadership to respect and value the educational practice, culture, and history of their students and parents. Flood (2017) examined the experiences of high school principals in a leadership capacity. The study looked at the principal's potential to shape and reshape family involvement. The findings suggested school principals engaged in ways that allowed families to get involved in their children's schooling and academic experiences. Flood also found the need for educational leaders to act as a social justice leader. Additionally, Ogden (2017) examined how a principal became a leader working for social change in education. The purpose of this study explored how educational leaders navigated the system to reduce social

inequalities. Ogden cited parents' values contributed to the principal's beliefs and behaviors.

Barnitz and Conley (2020) examined the organizational dimensions of principal leadership. The findings revealed that school leaders must take time for reflection on problem solving, school change initiatives and leadership. Also, they must be opened to identifying their vulnerabilities in order to grow and change. On the other hand, Wooldridge et al. (2019) examined the perceptions of high school principals and their ability to retain students and increase graduation rates. Findings from the study showed the principal as the key person responsible for putting procedures in place for student retention.

School administrators were no longer required to single-handedly perform all responsibilities associated with the management and guidance of the school. Shared leadership was an effective strategy in support of parent involvement that may influence student achievement.

Summary and Conclusions

The case study examined how middle and high school administrators in a Midwest school district implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. Epstein's (2001) conceptual framework was used in the case study. The framework utilized six types of parent involvement strategies: (a) parenting, (b) communicating, (c) volunteering, (d) learning at home, (e) decision-making, and (f) community collaboration. A review of the literature discovered three influences related to parent involvement: (a) the challenges school administrators needed

to overcome to support parent involvement, (b) the strategies needed to support parent involvement which may influence student achievement, and (c) the benefits of parent involvement. Researchers confirmed parent involvement was associated with higher student achievement. The literature demonstrated parent involvement may be related to student achievement and should be supported by school administrators. The literature also revealed significant issues related to parent involvement, met by middle and high school administrators. It was determined school administrators were obligated to implement strategies to support involvement for parents through mentoring, classes, tutoring, and seminars. There was a need for school administrators to (a) provide parent involvement activities that promote teacher, student, and parent relationships, (b) identify and implement strategies to support parent involvement, and (c) equip parents with information to help influence student achievement. This case study may contribute to the existing literature by providing information related to how middle and high school administrators implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. This case study also has future implications related to research, policy, and practice of how to address the of support parent involvement. Chapter 3 of this case study was a discussion of the methods used to gather data on the perceptions of school administrators and their responses to the research questions.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this case study was to examine how middle and high school administrators in a Midwest school district implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. Federal and state legislators created mandates that required schools to develop systemic programs to work more effectively with parents (Day & Dotterer, 2018). Additionally, the United States Department of Education enacted ESSA, that required schools who received federal funds to have a local policy to develop and enhance parent involvement programs. School administrators expressed concerns with both student achievement and parent involvement. Similarly, the Midwest district school board adopted a strategic plan that required school administrators to implement best practice models that provided support to parents. As a result, the problem examined in this case study was how middle and high school administrators in the Midwest school district implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement.

The overall research design and specific details of the study will be discussed in chapter three. The case study featured a case study design since an in-depth look at the participants perspectives were reviewed and a comprehensive understanding of a bounded unit was discussed (Burkholder, 2020). The conceptual framework helped to inform the case study while the research questions focused on the "how and why" of the implemented strategies used by the school administrators. Eight school administrators were selected to participate in the study. The school administrators had experience working with parents and a minimum of two years' experience as a school administrator.

A brief summary described the role of the researcher, the strategy for data collection, and details of the data analysis plan.

Research Design and Rationale

A review of the literature helped to determine the purpose and meaning for this case study. Researchers in the literature overwhelmingly revealed the need for school administrators to implement strategies in support of parent involvement. According to Mac Iver et al. (2018), there was a need for schools to give more systematic attention to involving parents and provide them with information and strategies that may influence their students' academic achievement. Likewise, Cheung (2019) concluded parents helped children develop specific skills which reinforced children's desire to do well in school and parents to instill the importance of school in their children.

Federal, state, and local mandates that required schools to develop parent involvement programs were addressed in this case study. An investigation of how middle and high school administrators in the Midwest school district implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence students' achievement was needed. The following questions steered the case study:

- 1. How do middle and high school administrators implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?
- 2. How do middle and high school administrators perceive the effectiveness of the strategies they implement to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?

Marshall and Rossman (2016) emphasized the importance of using a conceptual framework that was grounded in the literature. During this case study, I employed Epstein's (2001) conceptual framework to inform the interview process, interview protocol, data analysis and interpretation of results. Epstein's framework included six types of involvement: (a) parenting, (b) communicating, (c) volunteering, (d) learning at home, (e) decision-making, and (f) community collaboration.

Several research designs were considered for this study. A quantitative research design was ruled out since this study did not test a theory. However, various qualitative research designs were considered such as: (a) ethnography, the study of cultural groups, (b) phenomenology, related to patterns of individuals, (c) narrative, related to individual stories, (d) grounded theory, develops theory, and (e) case study. Merriam and Tisdell (2016) described a case study as an in-depth description and analysis of a bounded system. A second characteristic of a qualitative case study was the researcher, who was the primary instrument for data collection and data analysis (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). According to Burkholder et al. (2016), case study research design has been used since the early 1900s. In the 1950s the field of education began to use case study designs to gain more in-depth perspectives in research studies. A case study design was the most appropriate for this study since the design: (a) aligned with my research problem, purpose and questions, (b) provided a detailed interview examining the implemented strategies that middle and high school administrators used to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement, (c) helped prevent the scope of the research from expanding beyond the original intent, (d) allowed for a comprehensive understanding of

the case being studied, (e) allowed for the exploration of everyday real-life experiences, and (f) the researcher was the primary instrument for data collection and data analysis.

Role of the Researcher

I collected data from the interviews with school administrators and reviewed and analyzed the data to identify themes. I interviewed each participant individually at a time and location determined by the school administrator.

According to Marshall and Rossman (2016), the researcher collected data from the individual experiences and finds in those individual experiences a shared, lived experience. I retired as a district administrator of the Midwest school district eight years ago. I was employed as executive director of student services. I currently have no connection to the Midwest school district. However, extra measures were taken to avoid bias, prejudice or undue influence to the process. I used the following internal process to examine any potential bias through techniques such as: (a) triangulation, (b) maintained a journal to record my thoughts surrounding the research, (c) checked interpretations with the individuals interviewed, (d) used two colleagues associated with the study to comment on the findings and clarify any biases and assumptions, (e) used an audit trail to describe how the study was conducted and how the findings were derived from the data. I examined my perception of parent involvement strategies to become aware of any personal prejudices, viewpoints and assumptions. According to Merriam and Tisdell (2016), this process was called epoche meaning to refrain from judgement. The participants were assured that my role was that of a doctoral student and not an

administrator. I assured the participants of the following: (a) their involvement and participation would remain confidential, (b) their participation was completely voluntary, and (c) they may withdraw from the study at any point in the process.

Methodology

Merriam and Grenier (2019) described the goal of a qualitative case study as the development of an understanding of how people make meaning of their experiences. I collected data and completed an analysis of middle and high school administrators' perceptions of the strategies they used to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. Qualitative researchers who conducted case studies were interested in (a) how people interpreted their experiences, (b) how people constructed their worlds, and (c) what meaning people attributed to their experiences (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). This methodology was appropriate since the case study followed the characteristics related to qualitative research: (a) occurred in a natural rather than controlled settings, (b) collected data through words that were analyzed, (c) data collection techniques included individual interviews, (d) incorporated the participants' voice into the presentation of findings and (e) described some phenomenon as experienced by individuals or groups.

Participant Selection

Participants were selected using purposive sampling. Ravitch and Carl (2016) describe purposive sampling as the primary sampling method used in qualitative research. This method was used in situations where a particular characteristic or experience exist in certain people. For example, this case study examined how middle and high school

administrator's implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement.

Furthermore, Burkholder et al. (2016) described purposive sampling as selecting the sample size based on the purpose of the research study. Burkholder et al. (2016) maintains sample size was not as important in qualitative case studies since the depth of a qualitative case study was more important than the breadth. Therefore, only eight middle and/or high school administrators were selected to participate in the case study. Limiting eight school administrators to participate allowed each school administrator's beliefs and experience to be analyzed and reviewed in depth.

During recruitment, potential candidates were informed that selection would be based on the following: (a) participants needed experience interacting with parents and (b) participants needed a minimum of two years' experience as a school administrator. One week after an email was sent to potential candidates, only one school administrator responded with consent to participate. Follow-up telephone calls were made to all high school and middle school principals in the Midwest school district. After speaking to the principals directly, five agreed to participate in the case study. All candidates were then offered a \$25.00 gift card (\$10.00 gift cards were unavailable) for their time and effort in participating in the case study. Two assistant principals agreed to the study after telephone calls were made to their schools. A total of five high school principals, one middle school principal, one high school assistant principal and one middle school assistant principal agreed to participate in the study. These eight principals brought a wide range of diversity and depth to the study.

Instrumentation

The data collection instrument used were semi-structured interview questions developed by me. Ravitch and Carl (2016) describe the interview as a medium by which people's perspectives were examined to achieve a deeper compilation of information. Interviews are generally used as part of a qualitative case study. Semistructured interviews were chosen for this case study since the study gathered data on the participants perceptions of how they implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

A list of school administrators was generated through the Midwest school district. Criteria for participation in the study included: (a) experience working with parents, and (b) a minimum of two years' experience as a school administrator. Eight middle and/or high school administrators volunteered to participate in the study. At the start of each interview the participants signed a copy of the consent form which had been previously emailed to them. The consent forms included: (a) the purpose of the case study, (b) procedures to be followed, and (c) benefits of the case study. I assured the participants that their involvement and participation would remain confidential, their participation was completely voluntary, and they may withdraw from the study at any point during the process. The interviews took place at the school of each administrator. Each interview lasted approximately 45-60 minutes. After the interview was transcribed, a review of each transcript was provided to the participant for verification of accuracy of their statements as a final debriefing and exit to the study. Several of the participants followed

up with a thank-you for the opportunity to have participated and requested a copy of the study at its completion. There were no other comments or follow-up questions.

The interviews were tape-recorded by me in person using a Sony tape recorder (model: ICD-ux560). The same questions were asked to each participant during the interview to ensure consistency. The following research questions guided the case study:

- 1. How do middle and high school administrators implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?
- 2. How do middle and high school administrators perceive the effectiveness of the strategies they implement to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?

The participants were asked to only discuss situations related to the study involving the strategies they implemented to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement.

Data Analysis Plan

The data analysis was organized to align with the conceptual framework.

According to Merriam and Tisdell (2016), qualitative data analysis identifies patterns, categories and themes to answer research questions. I manually used the process of coding to sort, organize, and analyze the data responses. I looked for common words or phrases from each interview. Collected data was placed into a Microsoft Excel document which is stored on a thumb drive in a locked cabinet in my office.

I used an inductive form of qualitative analysis where findings emerged from the data (Yin, 2018). The process was as follows: (a) I transcribed the data generated through

audio recording verbatim into text, (b) through open coding a preliminary list of patterns and themes was developed that reflected the interview responses from the participants, (c) through axial coding, the process of dissecting and reassembling, additional categories and themes emerged from those identified during open coding, (d) through selective coding, larger categories emerged.

I acknowledge that not all audio nuances were captured, however credibility was transparent and maintained through the process of triangulation. A review of each transcript was created and given to the participant for verification of accuracy of their statements as a final debriefing and exit to the case study. A response to questions and comments were handled at that time.

Finally, a case study is designed to understand the unique experiences of each participant. Sometimes there may be a discrepant case that does not fit a specific pattern found in the data. However, there were no variations of the participants perspectives. I used the following validation strategies to handle any possible discrepancies: (a) carefully analyzed using triangulation, (b) utilized participant validation, (c) looked for alternative explanations with emerging themes, and (e) examined what more could be discovered from the participants.

A comprehensive analysis using the identified themes generated insights on how the participants implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement.

Trustworthiness

Ravitch and Carl (2016) referred to trustworthiness, as a key component of qualitative research design. Trustworthiness and credibility were established through a process of triangulation during the case study. Triangulation included the participants responses to the interview questions and the process of multiple coding used to create themes. This process of triangulation assisted in facilitating trustworthiness.

Confirmability was established through reflexivity. I maintained a journal before, during, and after data collection, to examine my conceptual lens and control for bias. I established dependability by developing an audit trail that tracked the research steps throughout the study. A chain of evidence was used to track each piece of evidence regarding the case study (Yin, 2018).

Ethical Procedures

Safeguards for maintaining the participant's privacy and identity was used. There was an obligation to provide integrity and honesty throughout the case study. I took the responsibility to do no harm to the participants and the district. Considerable attention was implemented to merit privacy, confidentiality, and ethics during the case study. I completed the following procedures: (a) the University Human Research Protection training course was completed, (b) consent for the case study was obtained from the University Institutional Review Board, to protect the rights of the participants, (c) consent to do the case study was obtained from the designated research official, (d) compliance was maintained with the participating school district policies and procedures regarding

research, (e) the name of the participating school district, location, and key pieces of evidence/data was redacted so they were not identifiable, (f) interviews were not administered to anyone outside of those identified for the case study, (g) video recordings were not used during the case study, (h) all confidential, private, and sensitive information was disclosed in the doctoral project document, (i) any data collected was not used for any purpose other than the current research case study, (j) all interview recordings and transcripts were shared with the interviewee only, and (k) transcripts with identifiers redacted were shared with the researcher's university faculty and peers.

The potential participant list was generated through the Midwest school district administrators list. Once participants were selected, the following procedures took place:

- 1. Participants interested in participating in the case study were asked to reply through my Walden email with the words, "I consent."
- 2. A signed consent form was obtained from each participant.
- 3. Participant's consent was ongoing, and participants had the right to withdraw from participation at any time.
- 4. The consent form included: (a) the purpose of the case study, (b) procedures to be followed, and (c) benefits of the case study.
- Confidentiality standards were discussed with each participant prior to the start of the interviews. Interview questions were given to the participants for review prior to the interview.
- 6. Confidentiality prevailed throughout the case study by securing audiotapes, transcripts, and all information regarding the investigation in a locked file

- throughout the course of the research. I am the only one with access to this information.
- 7. At the completion of the case study, audiotapes will be destroyed. Transcripts and any information regarding the case study will be stored in a locked file for five (5) years as required by the IRB.
- 8. Any indication of injury to the participant before, during, and after the case study will be avoided.
- 9. I exhibited professional conduct and protected the integrity of the University at all times.

Summary

In summary, the purpose of this case study was to examine how middle and high school administrators in a Midwest school district implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. A case study design was chosen since the case study design provided (a) an opportunity to collect different kinds of data, (b) provided an in-depth look at the inner workings of an organization, and (c) provided a comprehensive understanding about a bounded unit (Burkholder et al., 2016).

I was the primary instrument for data collection. During the data analysis, codes were developed, and modified into a list of patterns and themes. The process of triangulation assisted in facilitating trustworthiness. Ethical procedures for maintaining trustworthiness prevailed throughout the case study. Safeguards regarding privacy and confidentiality was used.

Chapter 4 of this case study provides details of the setting and demographics of the study. Data collected from the semi-structured interviews were analyzed, coded, and presented in this chapter as well. A comprehensive description was discussed that reflected the insights of each participants implemented strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement.

Chapter 4: Results

Researchers studying parent involvement have recently revealed that traditional parent involvement approaches were not compatible with current school structures. Prior research has become outdated and does not address the current difficulties and barriers that exist with today's families. Exploring how school administrators implement strategies to support to parent involvement that may influence student achievement was needed. There are few studies which have specifically examined the implementation of strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. It was imperative to gain a better understanding of parent involvement and the possible link to student achievement.

The purpose of this case study was to examine how middle and high school administrators in a Midwest school district implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. Both the literature review and conceptual framework influenced this case study. In the literature, Hill et al. (2018) maintained that partnering with parents at the secondary level was complex since youth were developing their own identities. Nevertheless, Hill et al. upheld student achievement as strongly related to parent involvement.

A case study design was used to answer the following research questions:

1. How do middle and high school administrators implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?

2. How do middle and high school administrators perceive the effectiveness of the strategies they implement to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?

The following topics were organized and discussed in chapter 4 of this case study:

(a) setting, (b) demographics, (c) data collection, (d) data analysis, (e) trustworthiness, and (f) results.

Setting

The Midwest school district is in the northern region of the United States. There was a need to implement strategies to support parent involvement, student achievement, and respond to federal and state mandates regarding parent involvement. Research was needed regarding the perceptions of the strategies implemented by middle and high school administrators to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. School administrators in this Midwest school district were faced with several concerns: (a) Parents expressed concerns in a survey conducted by the state. The survey disclosed the need for parents to be more involved with decision-making, building positive relationships, developing better communication, and receiving guidance with schoolwork at home (State Department Parent Survey, 2019), (b) middle and high school administrators expressed difficulties regarding ways to address the concerns associated with both student achievement and parental involvement, (c) the Midwest school district Assistant Superintendent recommended the need to research and examine how middle and high school administrators facilitated the support of student achievement and identify strategies that were more effective with parents (Assistant Superintendent, 2020), (d) the

Midwest district school board adopted a strategic plan which required school administrators to implement best practice models that provided support to parents (Strategic Plan 2019, Midwest District School Board meeting minutes), and (e) Federal and state mandates requiring schools to develop systemic programs to work more effectively with parents emerged. Furthermore, The United States Department of Education enacted ESSA which required schools that receive federal funds to have a local policy to develop and enhance parent involvement programs. A review of the current literature helped to determine the purpose and need for this case study. Corcoran (2017) revealed a growing interest in schools partnering with parents since parent involvement provided a means to improving student achievement. A recurrent finding in the literature focused on the importance of schools increasing communication with parents through enhanced parent involvement (Elbaum et al., 2016).

School administrators at the middle and high school level were invited to participate in the study. Participants had a range of administrative experience from eight years to twenty-five years. Participants were comprised of five high school principals, one middle school principal, one high school assistant principal and one middle school assistant principal. The participants administrative experience included parochial, public, alternative, urban, and suburban schools. All participants had experience implementing parent involvement programs at their schools and were aware of the federal, state, and local requirements regarding parent involvement.

Data Collection

Participants were selected using purposive sampling. Ravitch and Carl (2016) describe purposive sampling as the primary sampling method used in qualitative research. This method was used in situations where a specific characteristic or experience exist with certain people.

During recruitment, potential candidates were informed that selection would be based on the following: (a) participants needed experience interacting with parents and (b) participants needed a minimum of two years' experience as a school administrator.

One week after an email was sent to potential candidates, only one school administrator responded with consent to participate. Follow-up telephone calls were made to all high school and middle school principals in the Midwest school district. After speaking to the principals directly, five agreed to participate in the case study. All candidates were then offered a \$25.00 gift card (\$10.00 gift cards were unavailable) for their time and effort in participating in the case study. Two assistant principals agreed to the study after telephone calls were made to their schools. A total of five high school principals, one middle school principal, one high school assistant principal and one middle school assistant principal agreed to participate in the study. These eight principals brought a wide range of diversity and depth to the study.

Data collection through semistructured interviews took place at the school of each participant. The participants' selected the time and location of the interview. The inperson interviews were held from November 5, 2021- November 12, 2021. Notifications were sent to the participants as reminders of the exact date and time of the interviews.

There was only one interview that had to be rescheduled due to the participant's schedule. All interviews started on time. Each participant was provided a folder containing (a) consent form, (b) interview questions (appendix B), (c) interview protocol (appendix C), and (d) confidentiality was discussed. The interviews commenced after a brief discussion of the items in the folder and signing of the consent form was completed. All eight interviews were successfully completed.

I was the primary instrument for data collection. The interviews were taperecorded by me using a Sony tape recorder (model: ICD-ux560). Equipment was ready to go at the start of each interview. The interviews lasted approximately 45-60 minutes. The primary data collection instruments were the interview questions.

Responses from the participants provided detailed information regarding perceptions of the effectiveness of the strategies they implemented to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. Transcriptions of the interviews were reviewed and analyzed. During transcription review of the interviews verification of accuracy and triangulation took place.

Transcribed interviews were shared with the participants during the final debriefing and exit from the case study. All data is stored in a locked file cabinet in my locked office. This protected storage holds the following: (a) the coding system, (b) record keeping system, and (c) personal information (calendar, contact information, and observation notes).

There were no variations to the original plan presented in Chapter 3. Eight middle and/or high school administrators from the Midwest school district agreed to participate

in the study. Interviews lasted 45- 60 minutes. All of the school administrators met the following criteria: (a) participants needed experience interacting with parents and (b) participants needed a minimum of two years' experience as a school administrator

Data Analysis

The following research questions were used to analyze interview responses from the participants during the data analysis process:

- 1. How do middle and high school administrators implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?
- 2. How do middle and high school administrators perceive the effectiveness of the strategies they implement to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?

Data was transcribed immediately after each interview. Immediate documentation of the interviews allowed for a smooth transition of information. During the coding process careful attention was given to move inductively from word patterns to categories to themes to answer the research questions. According to Merriam and Tisdell (2016), qualitative data analysis identifies patterns, categories and themes to answer the research questions. I manually used the process of coding to sort, organize, and analyze the data responses from the participants. First, I identified common words and phrases from each participant interviewed. During the coding process: (a) I transcribed the data generated through audio recording into text, (b) through open coding a preliminary list of patterns and categories resulted from the participants responses, (c) through axial coding, the process of analyzing and reassembling, additional categories and themes emerged, and

(d) through the process of selective coding larger categories and themes were developed. The collected data was entered into an excel spreadsheet. A comprehensive analysis identified themes from the participants regarding the strategies they implemented to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. The participants perception of the effectiveness of their strategies emerged as well. Through this inductive process of data analysis findings became apparent. According to Yin, (2018) findings will emerge through an inductive form of qualitative analysis of the data.

Table 2 *Key Words and Phrases*

Key Words	Frequency Count	Administrator
Student	23	A1, A2, A3, A4,
Achievement		A5, A6, A7, A8
Involvement	29	A1, A2, A3, A4,
		A5, A6, A7, A8
Recruitment	11	A1, A2, A3, A4, A7
Communication	16	A1, A2, A3, A4,
		A5, A6, A7, A8
Relationship	10	A2, A3, A4, A7,
Vision	5	A2, A3, A6, A7, A8
Transparency	9	A3, A4, A6, A7, A8
Parent Support	22	A2, A3, A4, A5, A7, A8
Barriers	17	A1, A3, A4, A5, A6, A7,
Accountability	8	A3, A4, A5, A7, A8
Parents voice	9	A3, A4, A5, A7, A8
Training	11	A1, A2, A4, A5, A6, A7,
Mentoring	14	A1, A4, A5, A6, A7, A8
Home visits	16	A1, A2, A4, A5, A6, A7,

During a comprehensive analysis using axial coding, categories emerged.

Through selective coding, the participants identified six themes related to the strategies they implemented to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement.

The following themes were: (a) parent involvement relationship to student achievement, (b) strategies related to the role of parents, (c) strategies related to the role of schools, (d) strategies related to communication, (e) strategies related to leadership, and (f) challenges related to parent involvement.

Below Table 3 illustrates the number of responses provided for each theme.

Table 3Themes Identified from Participant's Interviews

Themes	PI/SA	Parent Role	School Role	Communication	Leadership	Challenges
A1	✓		✓	✓		✓
A2	✓		✓	✓	✓	✓
A3	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓
A4	❖	✓	❖	✓	✓	✓
A5	✓		✓	✓		✓
A6	❖		✓	❤	✓	✓
A7	❖	✓	❖	✓	✓	✓
A8	✓		❖	✓	✓	✓

Case studies are intended to understand the unique experiences of each participant. During this study the participants various perspectives were considered and there were no discrepancies found. I used triangulation, member checks, participant validation, and I closely examined the themes that emerged from the participants.

Results

School Administrators in the Midwest School District needed to implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. In the literature, Stefanski et al. (2016) identified several strategies that foster meaningful parent involvement, these include (a) forming positive and trusting relationships, (b) outlining clear parent roles and responsibilities, (c) identifying shared resources, (d) acknowledging mutual benefits, (e) devising and implementing evaluation procedures that demonstrate the importance of ongoing parent involvement and collaboration, and (f) implementing IDEA mandates requiring parent participation in education. A more coordinated districtwide effort was needed to employ the strategies implemented by the Midwest district school administrators to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. The following research questions were addressed in this case study:

RQ 1: How do middle and high school administrators implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence to achievement?

RQ 2: How do middle and high school administrators perceive the effectiveness of the strategies they implement to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?

Participants responded to interview questions one through four as follows:

Interview Question 1- What strategies have you implemented to support parent involvement at your school?

Interview Question 2 - When were the strategies implemented?

Interview Question 3 - What successes were evident with the strategies implemented at your school?

Interview Question 4 - What do you perceive as effective strategies that you have used to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?

Role of Parents in schools

Recruiting Parents

A central theme that surfaced in this case study was the need for school administrators to recruit parent volunteers. Participant A4 recruited and met with a parent group every two weeks. According to participant A4 establishing parent groups gave parents a voice. Participant A4 stated "When parents knew that they had a voice they were more invested in their child's education. This year, I reimplemented coffee with the principal. Early in the morning when students came in parents were also invited to come in and have coffee with the principal. There was no formal presentation, it was just an opportunity to come in and talk. I also established a Parent Advisory Board. During these meetings, I had discussions on safety, academic achievement, and community involvement events for parents."

Participant A2 stated, "I sent out a slide presentation to parents and students. I expressed the need for representatives to serve on a Parent Advisory Team (PAT). I wanted parents to feel as though they had a voice. When parents had a voice, they

encouraged their children to do better in school. This team involved parents and representatives from every department in the school building. The Parent Advisory Team meetings were not gripe sessions. They had various topics and a specific purpose for each meeting."

Every school year participant A3 identified half a dozen to a dozen parents that served on a Parent Advisory Team. Assistant principals and lead teachers served on the team as well. Participant A3 stated, "Listen to parents they have good ideas. They tell five of their friends what's going on in the school and their friends tell five of their friends. Word of mouth and peoples' experiences is one of the greatest communication tools in our schools."

Develop Family Centers/Parent Rooms

Participant A4 recommended creating a family center/parent room to better support parents. The center provided parents with the use of computers to access power school (a technology-based parent portal) to check on their child's academic status.

While in the center parents met with teachers, administrators and other parents.

Participant A5 also created a family center in the school that focused on the family. The focus was on their child's academics and other parent needs. The family center provided parents with access to the computer, helped with taxes, developed parenting skills, and provided information on how to make nutritious meals for the family. The center focused only on what parents needed to provide an environment for their kids to be successful academically. According to participant A5, a family center not only helped the parent but helped the kids to become more comfortable with their parents coming to school. The

kids saw the center as a place where their parents were welcomed. The parent saw the school as a benefit to them and their child. According to participant A5, parents appreciated the resources provided by the school.

Role of Schools in Support of Parent Involvement

Mentoring Parents

Participant A7 organized parent cafés which brought in experts to speak on various topics requested by parents. Speakers included: (a) an immigration lawyer, (b) a tax preparer at tax time, (c) community partners who provided information on free connection to Wi-Fi for on-line learning, (d) speakers which provided information on probation prevention and counseling programs, and (e) information on ways to obtain free tutoring and tangible goods such as desks and chairs for studying at home. Also, participant A7 provided opportunities for families to shop for Christmas gifts for their kids at extremely low prices. Community benefactors provided gifts and toys for the parent activities. During the parent cafés, both dinner and childcare were provided.

Participant A1 involved parents in a program called donuts for dads and muffins for moms. Parents were invited to a meeting. At the meeting school administrators and faculty talked individually to each parent concerning their child's academic progress and other concerns with their child.

Participant A5 set up a program called Points for Parents. Parents earned points for helping their children with homework. After earning points, parents turned in the points for a monetary gift card at the end the nine-week grading period. Parent involvement with homework was increased. Parents earned points when they helped with

the after-school study table (for example helping a student with two hours of homework). Also, parents earned points for attending parent conferences and athletic events. If the parents had children at the middle/elementary school, they could earn points as well. (example: six hours of reading with their child over a week = 4 points). The program was a success since it provided parent/family support from the elementary school level to the high school level. During this program, parents showed an increase in their participation at school and an increased doing homework with their child at home. The Points for Parents program provided increased parent involvement with homework, attending parent conferences, and other school involvement. Participant A5 had a program for students who were deficient in the credits required for graduation. For example, a student who was a junior in high school with only fifteen credits was significantly deficient in their credits for graduation. The student was placed into a separate classroom. Instead of going to each of his/her seven classes, teachers rotated into a classroom and worked individually with their student. There was a full-time coordinator in the classroom who ensured the student hit their academic benchmarks. As the student progressed and became less credit deficient, he/she was transitioned back into their regular classes one class at a time. The parent component to this program required parents to sign a contract agreeing to provide study tables at home with the student and agreed to check in regularly with the student. The coordinator sent a weekly text to the parent that requested an update of the completed homework activities. Benchmark checks were ongoing since the strategies were done at school and at home. According to participant A5, the program was phenomenal due to a 90% success rate. Participant A5 stated, "There was a shared

commitment with the parents, students, and teachers. The students really liked the program and wanted to stay in it because of the support provided to them. This was not a behavioral program; it was an academic program. Kids just needed to experience success. When we put students in situations where they were required to be responsible for their academics, they always rose to the occasion. We provided the study tables and provided students with the support that they needed it in order to be successful."

Participant A6 highlighted another popular strategy. Students were congratulated on their upcoming graduation with yard signs. The yard sign with the graduates' name on it was placed in front of the school. Parents were often seen in front of the school looking at the yard signs with their child's name. They came into the school wanting to know how many credits their child needed to be ready for graduation. Participant A6 stated, "This strategy was a real success. The parents and students worked really hard on improving their grades for graduation."

Home Visits

The following procedure for home visits was used by Participant A1: (a) teachers make the initial contact with parents when there was a need, (b) after three attempts with no response the school administrator or counselor called or emailed the parent, and (c) if still no response, the family liaison made a home visit. According to Participant A1, every avenue was used to contact parents concerning the child's school achievement. Additionally, every six weeks progress reports were sent home to parents.

Participant A3 worked within the students support system. For example, there was a student that stopped coming to school who needed only two credits to graduate.

Participant A3 found out where the student worked, and the assistant principal went to his job. After speaking with the student's boss and shared that the student needed two classes to graduate. The classes could be completed online. The boss became involved, and the student completed the classes and graduated. Participant A3 stated, "Student success was credited to all of the things we do. It's not one specific program that leads to anything but a combination of things.

Extracurricular Activities

When attempting to involve parents it was important to include extracurricular activities. Participant A3 had a successful booster club that was run by parents. According to participant A3, these activities were very important to the growth, development, and academic success of students. Without parent involvement these activities would not run. Similarly, participant A4 states, "We are very intentional about attending sporting events. Student participation in many of the extra-curricular activities requires academic eligibility." As stated by participant A4 parents ran the booster club. Both parent involvement and student achievement surrounded athletics and extracurricular activities.

The Importance of Communication

Power School

As stated by participant A1, "Parents see their child's grades, attendance, and daily progress with power school." The power school technology system allowed parents to contact teachers to find out what assignments their child was missing and how they could improve the child's academic progress. According participant A1, "parents tell us

they want their children to graduate. Maybe they've had four other children graduate and this was the last one. We work directly with that parent to help them achieve the goal of their child's graduation."

Transparency

Participant A4 stressed the importance of transparency with parents. As said by participant A4, "We don't hide anything from parents. When we have a lockdown drill, we tell the parents. When we have an incident where someone has a firearm, parents are notified. We are completely honest and transparent with our parents." Participant A4 works to ensure that accurate information was sent out to parents. As a result, parents helped to guard against negative press being circulated regarding the school. Similarly, participant A3 says, "Transparency allows parent involvement with the day-to-day activities of the school. Schools make mistakes, teachers make mistakes, I make mistakes and I'm able to say you know what we messed up. I'm able to say that because of transparency and communication and because 99% of the time we get it right."

Parent Conferences

Parent-teacher conferences was where parents come in and talk with the teachers/staff individually about their students' academic progress and social and emotional well-being. During parent conferences, parents got an update about the academic status of their students. These conferences told parents where their children were in their high school achievement and what was needed for graduation. Participant A6 gave points to parents during parent and teacher conferences. Students received a total of 30 points if their mom or dad attended the conferences. Students really encouraged

their parents to attend parent conferences so they could receive thirty points. Students used ten points in each subject/up to three classes. Success for this strategy was evident since large numbers of parents participated. Parents signed in to keep track of who attended. Participant A3 identified students who didn't want to go to class or didn't want to do their schoolwork. The participant brought the parents in for a conference sooner rather than later to sit down and have a conversation concerning their child's academic achievement. Open Houses, Back to School Nights, and Student/Parent Orientations were popular communication strategies used in the Midwest school district by all schools.

Social Media

Several participants used a Parent Facebook page where only parents with students that attended their school participated. When a student graduated or left the school, their parents were removed from the Parent Facebook page. For example, participant A2 sent out scholarship information, grant information, and graduation information through the Parent Facebook page. Similarly, participant A4 responded to every email from parents even if it was just a thank you note. When parents emailed a request for a meeting, an immediate response was sent. For example, participant A4 was planning to respond to a parent because of some negative information that was in the social media the morning of our interview. Participant A8 says, "Schools should provide parents with frequent assessments of students and communication should be concise and frequent to keep parents in the loop." Likewise, participant A4 stated, "It was my job to respond to parents assuring them that the school was a safe environment contrary to what

was being said in the media. Education takes place when schools are regarded as safe havens."

Telephone Calls & Newsletters

At the beginning of each school year participant A6 sent home a newsletter and made follow-up telephone calls regarding a meeting for seniors. Parents came to the school, received information regarding their child's credits, and met with counselors, teachers and school administrators. Also, participant A6 kept track of the number of telephone calls made to parents. Teachers made telephone calls, administrators made telephone calls, and the family liaison made telephone calls to parents. As a result of these regular telephone calls, parents were very much aware of the graduation status of their child all year long. Participant A4 responded to telephone calls from parents personally. Being available to talk to parents was a successful strategy according to participant A4. Likewise, participant A3 says, "I pride myself in keeping communication open with parents. It sounds kind of cliché but the best communication strategy that I have was calling parents back." Participant A3 talked to parents who were frustrated about school staff not returning telephone calls or answering emails. According participant A3, "I'm not saying it doesn't happen here, I'm sure it does, sometimes just listening to a parent was going to help the parent and you as an administrator. Being able to make sure that teachers, the assistant principal, and the principal are making phone calls back was important." A successful strategy used by participant A3 was requiring teachers to use power school to log all of their parent telephone calls. Then in the monthly newsletter, participant A3 congratulated a teacher for making seventy-five calls

to parents this month. Participant A3 stated, "It took a year to year and a half get this strategy going but now teachers regularly use power school to respond/contact parents regarding their child's academic status.

Relationships with Parents

Building relationships with parents was meaningful. As stated by participant A3, "It's building relationships by reaching out to all parents. If there was one thing that I've learned, all parents want their kids to do well. I really believe that. This high school has a huge amount of diversity with our parents. For example, I can go into a meeting with a single mother on food stamps struggling to make ends meet and I can go into a meeting with a millionaire. They both want their child to succeed academically in school. They may express what they want in different ways, but they both want their children to be successful. It's about building relationships with all parents."

Relationships also provided an opportunity to give positive feedback concerning student achievement. Participant A3 perceives parents as needing to hear positive feedback. However, students needed to be encouraged with their academics as well. For example, participant A3 had a student who was really struggling with classes. Participant A3 met with the student and parents. Participant A3 said to the student, "I don't care where you go to college, and I don't care if you are not first in your class. I could see the weight lift off the students' shoulders. The student actually dropped a few of the advanced classes and still graduated with honors. At the other end of the spectrum, we have to sometimes tell parents to "Relax a little bit."

According to participant A2 no matter the specific strategy, whether creating an advisory Council, a PTO, a booster club, or just connecting with parents that worked in the school, as long as a positive relationship exists, there was support for the student's academic success. Whether it was to promote an academic opportunity or a behavior problem, the situation was much easier to address when the relationship had already been established. Participant A8 found that it was important to establish trust and foster relationships with parents. Parents should have the opportunity to build rapport with their child's support network.

Participant A3 had a problem with parents contacting the school. According to participant A3, "This isn't just a problem at my school. It's a problem in the entire district. I'm assuming it's probably a national problem. One way of addressing this concern was through establishing relationships." For example, "We have created a great relationship with our parent group. I meet with the leader of our parent group every month. The leader hears from parents regularly. There are times that a parent may not know who to go to when they have a question with the school. The parent sends the question to the leader of our parent group and the parent group leader forwards the question to me or the appropriate school employee/designee. We then respond directly to the parent with the concern."

The Role of Leadership

Vision/Goals

Five out of eight participant discussed the importance of establishing school vision and goals. For example, Participant A2 identified daily parent involvement

activities to establish a vision and goals for the parent advisory council and to determine various ways for parents to get more directly involved.

Distributed Leadership

Shared leadership was used by all of the participants. In order to accomplish the numerous responsibilities related to parent involvement that may influence student achievement, distributed leadership was utilized. For example, participant A7 worked with the school counselor and social worker to identify students who had a significant number of absences and students who were doing poorly in school. A mandatory parent informational meeting was held which focused on grades and attendance. During the meeting, administrators, counselors, and social workers spoke with parents regarding the importance of their child attending school and staying informed of their child's academics. Parents were also asked to donate three hours of volunteer time back to school.

Community Partnerships

The significance of community partnerships was prevalent throughout the interviews. For example, participant A1 invited community partners from medical clinics to meet with parents. The area hospital medical van came to the school and provided medical information and screenings to families. Additionally, participant A1 held job fairs at the school with the work-one program for both students and parents. Some of the parents acquired employment as a result of attending the job fairs. According to participant A1 resources were provided to the entire family since student academic success depended on the success of the family as a whole.

Participants responded to interview question five as follows:

Interview Question 5 - What challenges were discovered with the strategies that you implemented to support parent involvement?

Challenges Supporting Parent Involvement

Challenges caused a lack of parent involvement at (a) open houses, (b) extracurricular activities, (c) communication with their child's teachers and administrators, (d) lack of engagement related to homework help, and (e) lack of educational encouragement.

Barriers faced by parents

Participant A4 stated, "It is often said that parents are not involved and that is true in some of your high poverty areas where parents are working. It is not because parents don't want to be involved it's because they must work." Similarly, participant A1 noted that many parents work and cannot get their child to school. Sometimes parents are faced with poverty concerns which overshadow their involvement in school. For example, participant A7, provided resources for Christmas where parents were allowed to shop in the school gym for Christmas gifts for their children at an extremely low price.

Community benefactors provided gifts and toys for this activity for low-income families. According to participant A5 when parents see the school as a resource and a benefit to them, parents say to their child, "Do not cut up in school because we appreciate the resources that the school provides. Schools in the Midwest district helped to address these barriers by providing use of computers, furniture for study tables at home, food for the weekend, bookbags, and the Coats for Kids Program.

Transportation challenges

According to participant A1, transportation determines how we get students to and from school. Many parents work and cannot get their child to school. According to participant A1, the generation of students today do not want to take public transportation to school. There was a perception of entitlement that only poor kids take public transportation.

Limits on Involvement

Participant A4 expressed challenges with parents being limited from participation. Participant A4 stated, "Unfortunately, there are times that we must limit the involvement of parents. For example, I had an amazing father that came in wanting to participate in our parent involvement activities. We did a required background check and because of something the parent had done as a teenager, we could not allow him into the school."

This parent was a good father and role model for his son and other young men in the neighborhood.

Data Collection

Participants responded to interview question six as follows:

Interview Question 6 - What data was collected in relation to the strategies that you have implemented?

According to participant A3, "Over the last 8 years suspension rates have gone down/graduation rates have gone up. We use teacher follow-up phone calls. The African American graduation rates have gone from 82% to 89%, while African American suspension rates have decreased by 47%. There was no coincidence that this happened.

We meet with counselors monthly to see where each student was in their progress toward graduation." Participant A3 collects the following data: (a) the number of involved parents participating in various activities, (b) the trends of students, and (c) the criteria used for students to come into our programs. Participant A7 collects exit tickets to survey the response of parents during parent cafes. Participant A7 also compares the number of parents invited to an activity to those that actually attend. Similarly, participant A6 collects and reviews attendance data from parent teacher conferences and open houses. Moreover, participant A2 created a database with cross references to follow students' overtime. The data evaluated areas of student success and demographics of students. Participant A2 cross referenced the impact of student achievement by: (a) socioeconomics (b)race, (c) grade level, (d) honor students, (e) special ed students, (f) middle functioning students, (g) athletes, and (h) magnet students. Participant A1 has a data coach who tracked and compiled information on attendance, home liaison/home visits, credits earned, and grades.

The Relationship between Parent Involvement and Student Achievement

Participants responded to interview question seven as follows:

Interview Question 7 - What do you perceive as the relationship between parent involvement and student achievement?

Participants from the Midwest school district supported the concept that parent involvement may influence student achievement. According to participant A7, parent involvement was related to student achievement since students tend to show improved school behavior, improvement in their grades and improved mental health when their

parents are involved in their education. Similarly, participant A3 stated, "all parents want their kids to do well. It's about achievement, it's about attendance, it's about behavior, all of those things are connected. Participant A3 indicated that kids are in school for seven hours a day, parents have them for the other seventeen hours. Parents need to be involved in their child's education. Participant A3 says, "For example, I have a student that everyone thinks is great. He has a great smile, he's a good-looking kid, and he uses that to his advantage. He has not gone to class nineteen times during the first quarter. His parents asked, "Where is security? How has he missed this many classes?" Security sees him in the hallway, but they don't say anything to him because he is a good kid with a nice smile. He just waves and continues on his way. This student was failing two classes. He never should have failed two classes. The student comes from a great home where the parents are very concerned. It was detrimental that we involve parents that may have some influence over their child's academic achievement." Similarly, participant A4 says, "A student cannot be successful without parent involvement. There is a relationship between parent involvement and student achievement. When parents are fully invested in our schools, there is success. Parent involvement and parent buy in is the key to academic success for students." As stated by participant A5, "The more involved or the more invested a parent is in their kid's education, the higher achievement of that student. We found that if a parent was involved and coming to school and staying on top of the kid's grades, we saw at least a grade point average of a B, at a very minimum. I truly believe there is a relationship between parent involvement and student achievement. It is based on the parents' value of education. If the parents value education, it is the catalyst for

students success. If parents don't value education, we will see that reflected in the students' achievement. Parent expectations drive student success. When students know that they are going to be held accountable to their parents, students will work to have higher grades." Participant A6 stated, "There is definitely a correlation between parent involvement and student academic success or achievement. When parents use power school (a technology-based parent portal) on a regular basis, they get involved by checking with the student to ask why they did not get assignments done. For example, the parent may call the school with concerns that the teacher has not entered their child's grades into power school. We may find out that the child had not done the assignment. This is when accountability takes place between the teacher, parent and child." Participant A2 also confirmed that one of the biggest influences on a student's poor achievement was lack of encouragement from parents.

District Resources and Institutional Support

Participants responded to interview questions eight and nine as follows:

Interview Question 8 - What resources do you need to implement a successful parent involvement program?

Interview Question 9 - What institutional support do you need to implement a successful parent involvement program?

A Need for District Coordination

An office at the district level that solely focuses coordination of family/parent involvement is needed. According to participant A3, the various departments in the school function primarily on their own. There is a need to coordinate the efforts between

those departments district wide. For example, the African American Program should coordinate their efforts with the Bi-lingual Program. Participant A3 states, "It seems like we are almost working in silos. At the end of the day, they are all doing wonderful things so let's coordinate the departments together.

Language Assistance

During the interviews with the participants there was an undertone of disconnect with parents due to language barriers. Although language assistance is available, six of the eight participants expressed a need for more assistance at conferences, open houses, home communications, and networking with parents who do not speak English.

Transportation challenges

According to participant A1, many parents work and cannot get their child to school. The participants overwhelmingly expressed the need to get students to and from school on a regular basis. The concern faced by many school districts was due to a lack of bus drivers. The participants perceived that transportation may have an effect on student achievement and was also a concern faced by parents.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

The IRB approval number for this study is 10-07-21-0998261. Consent for this study was obtained from the district Assistant Superintendent. Triangulation was used to maintain credibility in this study. Trustworthiness and credibility were established through the process of triangulation using multiple sources of selected data during the case study. The selected data included the eight participants responses to the interview

questions and a multiple coding process was used to create categories and themes. The process of triangulation facilitated credibility and trustworthiness during the case study.

The case study was conducted in a mid-size school district therefore, generalizing the findings to a larger population may require added attention. I used the following procedures to address transferability: (a) the case study was limited to eight school administrators which allowed for in-depth interviews. According to Burkholder et al., in qualitative case studies, the depth was more important than the breadth, (b) case bounded means specific reasons for participation was required. Participants needed experience interacting with parents and participants needed a minimum of two years' experience as a school administrator, (c) participant validation and member checks were used to address possible systemic and researcher bias (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Transferability was enabled through the use of a rich, thick description of the case study (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

Dependability was established since I created an audit trail by tracking each research step during the study. I tracked each piece of evidence regarding the study.

According to Yin, (2018) dependability was established by creating a chain of evidence.

Transcripts were sent to each participant for verification of accuracy of their statements as a final debriefing and exit to the case study. A response to questions and comments was also handled at that time.

Summary

Chapter 4 provided results of this qualitative case study. In summary, school administrators supported the need to develop a better understanding of parent

involvement and the possible relationship to student achievement. School administrators responded to the first research question as follows:

RQ1: How do middle and high school administrators implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?

The school administrators demonstrated the importance of implementing strategies to support parent involvement through use of the following strategies: (a) recruiting parents for active involvement, (b) involving parents in school level decision-making, (c) providing parent/family centers in schools, (d) developing parent mentoring and training opportunities, (e) providing information and access to community resources, (f) strengthening home visit programs, (g) providing weekly communication to parents through newsletters, emails and/or telephone calls, and (h) boosting communication strategies such as: power school, open houses, back-to-school nights, parent-student orientations, parent-teacher conferences, and social media.

RQ2: How do middle and high school administrators perceive the effectiveness of the strategies they implement to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?

Responses to the second research question showed middle and high school administrators perceived the effectiveness of the strategies they implemented to support student achievement as significant. The school administrators supported parents in thoughtful and meaningful ways. Effective leadership practices were used to manage, guide, and support parent involvement. School administrators expressed the need to examine strategies that addressed the challenges parents face. Challenges faced by

parents included employment, economic factors, divorce, single-parent homes, language barriers, and in some cases, homelessness. Parent involvement was affected by the presence of barriers, which prevented them from involvement. Parents need to overcome these challenges so they may be more effectively involved in their child's education. Finally, school administrators believed that a more coordinated districtwide office was needed to help address the challenges faced by parents such as connecting parents to community partners that may provide support to address barriers, providing a comprehensive language assistance program, and addressing transportation concerns.

Chapter 5 will provide a discussion of the purpose and nature of the study. Findings of the study include conclusions and recommendations. A brief discussion of the implications for social change will occur. Finally, recommendations for practice will bring the study to a close.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this case study is to examine how middle and high school administrators in a Midwest school district implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. Exploring how school administrators implemented strategies to support to parent involvement that may influence student achievement in the Midwest school district was needed. Middle and high school administrators were faced with the following concerns: (a) parents had expressed the need to be more involved with decision-making, building positive relationships, developing better communication, and receiving guidance with schoolwork at home (State Department Parent Survey, 2019), (b) federal and state mandates required schools to develop systemic programs to work more effectively with parents, and (c) the Midwest District School Board required school administrators to implement parent/family involvement programs and strategies that may influence student achievement. There were few studies which specifically explored the implementation of strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. It was imperative to gain a better understanding of parent involvement and the possible relationship to student achievement in the Midwest school district.

The findings that emerged during the data analysis process confirmed the need to implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. The key findings were as follows: (a) parent involvement strategies related to the role of parents that may influence student achievement, (b) parent involvement strategies related to the role of schools that may influence student achievement, (c) parent

involvement strategies related to communication that may influence student achievement, (d) parent involvement strategies related to leadership that may influence student achievement, (e) challenges related to parent involvement that may influence student achievement, (f) and the relationship between parent involvement and student achievement.

Interpretation of the Findings

The key findings from this study were reflected throughout the literature. The findings confirmed the need for middle and high school administrators to implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement.

Following is a discussion in detail of the findings.

Parent Involvement Strategies Related to the Role of Parents

A central finding that emerged from the data was parent involvement strategies that may influence student achievement need to provide meaningful roles for parents.

The role of parents in schools today are seen totally different than ten years ago.

Nowadays school administrators need to recruit parents for more meaningful roles such as: school decision-making, giving parents a voice, building positive relationships, access to resources, mentoring, training, developing better communication, and receiving guidance with schoolwork at home.

There were several studies reflected in the literature relating to the role of parents in schools. For example, Bond (2019) determined parents do not know how to advance more meaningful roles regarding the education of their children. Thus, it was essential for school administrators to consider the perspective of parents as they implement strategies

to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. Similarly, Curry and Holter (2019) explored the perceptions parents have regarding their role in their child's education. Curry and Holter concluded that a better understanding of the factors, which influence parent actions and attitudes toward their child's education was needed.

Participant A2 wanted parents to feel as though they had a voice. Participant A2 states, "If parents have a voice, they are going to encourage their children to do better in school. Similarly, participant A4 concluded that establishing parent groups give parents a voice. "When parents know that they have a voice they are more invested in their child's education.

Parent Involvement Strategies Related to the Role of Schools

A significant finding that emerged from the data was that school administrators need to promote a culture where parent involvement was valued, validated, and visible. Parents should be valued through appreciation, validated through support, and their involvement should be visible. Schools should be places where parents are inundated with information on ways to improve the academic achievement of their child, community resources, training, and mentoring. Consistent with the findings, Yull and Wilson (2018) analyzed the impact of a Parent Mentoring Program. Findings indicated the program was beneficial for the encouragement of parent involvement. Yull and Wilson (2018) examined the influence of a Parent Mentoring Program in a school setting. Three main findings emerge from this study: (a) parents progressed from marginalized outsiders to feeling accepted, (b) teachers describe their interactions with the parents as beneficial due to the program, and (c) parents began to feel part of the educational

community. These findings provided support for school administrators to implement strategies that reflect a school culture where parents are encouraged, valued and supported. Similarly, Wang et al. (2018) studied the effects of parental involvement and relationships with middle school children. The findings showed school staffs should recognize and promote a culture where parental involvement was valued, encouraged, and visible since it improves the mental health of children. Additionally, Reynolds et al. (2015) examined how and why parents become involved with their children at the high school level. The focus was on motivators (a sense of self-esteem), contextual motivators (school, teacher, and students' invitations) and life-context variables (parent time, resources, skills, knowledge). The findings determined that school administrators and teachers should make every effort to invite parents to school events.

Participant A7 organized parent cafés which brought in community experts to speak on various topics requested by the parents. Moreover, Participant A1 involved parents in a program where parents were invited to a meeting to discuss their child's academic progress and meet community partners who provided resources from the community that encouraged the academic success of students. There was a need to provide resources to the entire family since student academic success depended on the family as a whole.

Parent Involvement Strategies Related to Communication

An essential finding that emerged from the data was parent involvement strategies related to communication that may influence student achievement. The literature determined communication to be an effective parent involvement strategy. Cheung

(2019) investigated the academic adjustments of adolescents when they transitioned to middle school. Cheung concluded by improving communications with parents, teachers would gain important insights about student behaviors. According to Cheung (2019), parent involvement included a variety of practices reflecting parents' commitment to their child's academic achievement. The researcher concluded improved communications with parents may allow schools to develop effective strategies to help students succeed in school.

School administrators in the Midwest School District communicate with parents through a technology-based parent portal called Power School. According to participant A1, "Parents can see their child grades, attendance, and daily progress with Power School. Participant A3 says, "I pride myself in keeping communication open with parents. "It sounds kind of cliché but the best communication strategy that I have is calling parents back." Participant A3 found that just listening to a parent helped both the parent and the administrator.

Another crucial communication strategy was building relationships with parents. Confirming this strategy, Pellecchia et al. (2018) found direct requests on behalf of schools served as a powerful predictor of parental involvement. The findings showed the importance of school-parent based relationships. These relationships build trust and encourage parent involvement that may influence student achievement.

According to participant A2 no matter the specific strategy, whether creating an advisory council, a PTO, a booster club, or just connecting with parents that work in the school, as long as a positive relationship existed with parents, a student's academic

success prevailed. Whether it was to promote an academic opportunity or a behavior problem, the situation was much easier to address when a relationship with the parent had been established. Participant A8 found that it was important to establish trust and foster relationships with parents. According to A8, parents should have the opportunity to build rapport with their child's support network. Building relationships with parents provided support to parent involvement that may influence student achievement.

Parent Involvement Strategies Related to Leadership

A finding fundamental to education emerged from the data. It was parent involvement strategies related to leadership that may influence student achievement. We must think in new ways about school leadership. It is vital that school leadership practices manage, guide, and support parent involvement. School leaders were required to develop and conduct school-community partnerships. Also, Mombouquette (2017), found a school administrators' personal and school-based vision had an impact on student learning. The researcher found effective leadership included a vision for the school. Mombouquette determined that leadership practices of school administrators provide a focus on learning and setting high expectations for students. The goals and vision of school administrators should include: (a) partnerships with parents, (b) monthly meetings to evaluate and improve parent involvement programs, and (c) use of frameworks such as the six types of involvement developed by Epstein. Participant A7, believes schoolcommunity partnerships contribute to the success of students. According to participant A7, "Some parents are intrinsically motivated and have more opportunities than other parents. Participant A7 connected parents to community agencies provided support to

them. Similarly, participant A1 invited community partners from medical clinics to meet with parents. For example, the area hospital medical van came to the school and provided medical information and screenings. There were job fairs at the school with the work-one program for both students and parents as well. Some of the parents acquired employment as a result of attending the job fairs. There was a need to provide resources to the entire family since student academic success depends on the family as a whole. These leadership strategies provided solutions to help eliminate barriers faced by some parents.

In parallel, participant A2 identified parent involvement activities that established a vision and goals for the parent advisory council and determined various ways for parents to get more directly involved.

Challenges Related to Parent Involvement

Challenges related to parent involvement that may influence student achievement emerged from the data. The challenges encompassed barriers, lack of student transportation to school and the need for district-wide coordination in the area of language assistance. These challenges caused a lack of parent involvement at (a) open houses, (b) extracurricular activities, (c) communication with their child's teachers and administrators, (d) lack of engagement related to homework help, and (e) lack of

educational encouragement. Implementing strategies to address these challenges was significant since the literature showed that challenges faced by school administrators effect parent involvement and may also influence student achievement. For example, Wassell et al. (2017) determined parents are restricted from parent involvement due to late work hours, second shifts, and having multiple jobs. Similarly, Camacho et al. found

financial strain and major life events were associated with lower levels of parent involvement in schools. Alexander et al. (2017) examined whether barriers related to parental "noninvolvement" was negatively associated with students' academic achievement. Results from the study showed (a) parental lack of transportation, (b) feeling unwelcomed at school, and (c) conflict with work schedules as reasons for parental noninvolvement. According to Alexander et al. (2017), when students perceived that parental noninvolvement was due to parents feeling unwelcomed or uncomfortable at school, it negatively affected the student's GPA. Kim (2018) compared the involvement of fathers in relation to the academic achievement of their children. The study found fathers were positively associated with their child's academic performance. Wassell et al. (2017) highlighted drawbacks related to language barriers and complex issues related to parent involvement for English language learners. Language barriers made it difficult for parents to communicate with their child's teachers, hindered the parent's ability to be involved with their child's schoolwork and many deterred other school activities.

Participant A1 indicated that transportation concerns effected the school attendance of students. Due to parent work schedules, they were unable to get their child to school. Participant A3 would like to see an office at the district level that solely focuses on coordination of family/parent involvement. Although, language assistance was available, the participants expressed a need for more language assistance at conferences, open houses, home communications, and networking with parents who do not speak English. Participant A4 would like to find ways to involve parents who have become

responsible citizens as adults but may not have passed the required background check due to something the parent had done as a teenager.

The Relationship Between Parent Involvement and Student Achievement

A major finding that emerged from the data was school administrators perceived that parent involvement was related to student achievement. The literature was consistent with the findings that implementing strategies for supporting parent involvement may influence student achievement. For example, Mac Iver et al. (2018) revealed the need for secondary school administrators to be more insightful in their approach to parent involvement. According to Mac Iver, during this critical time of transition, there was a need for school administrators to (a) provide parent involvement activities that promote teacher, student, and parent relationships, (b) identify and implement strategies to support parent involvement, and (c) equip parents with information to help support student achievement. Mac Iver et al. (2018) concluded parent involvement to be strongly related to student achievement and increased academic tenacity. Furthermore, research showed the need for middle and high school administrators to implement strategies to support parent involvement as a means to promote student achievement.

According to participant A7, parent involvement was related to student achievement since students tend to show improved school behavior, improvement in their grades and improved mental health when their parents are involved in their education.

Similarly, participant A4 says, "A student cannot be successful without parent involvement. There is a relationship between parent involvement and student

achievement. When parents are fully invested in our schools, there is success. Parent involvement and parent buy in is the key to academic success for students."

Conceptual Framework

The identified strategies discussed in this case study are grounded in the literature and fall within the boundaries of Epstein's recommendations of how to support parent involvement that may also influence student achievement. Marshall and Rossman (2016) emphasized the importance of using a conceptual framework that was grounded in the literature. Epstein's (2001) conceptual framework helped to guide the interview process, interview protocol, data analysis and interpretation of results. Epstein's framework is comprised of six types of involvement: (a) parenting, (b) communicating, (c) volunteering, (d) learning at home, (e) decision-making, and (f) community collaboration.

According to Green (2018), Epstein's framework was a good example of how schools' function as key institutions that influence student development and achievement. Bak-Srednicka (2018) examined whether direct contact with parents had any influence on a teachers-in-training program regarding the importance of parent involvement. According to Bak-Srednicka, Epstein's six types of parental involvement was a worthwhile framework for supporting parent involvement.

Table 4

Participants Implemented Strategies Related to
Epstein's Six Types of Parent Involvement

Epstein's	Category	Administrators		
Framework		Strategies		
1. Parenting	Parents Education	A1, A2, A6, A7, A8		
	Parent Support	A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, A8		
	Home Visits	A1, A6, A4		
2. Communicating	Parent Conference	A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, A6, A7		
	Language Support			
	Newsletters/Phone	A1, A2, A3, A4, A6		
3. Volunteering	Recruitment	A2, A3, A4, A5, A8		
	Family Centers	A4, A5, A7		
	Identify Talents	A2, A3		
4. Learning at Home	Subjects	A2, A3, A4, A5, A7		
	School work	A2, A4, A5, A7		
5. Decision Making	PTA/PAT/PTO	A2, A3, A4, A5, A7, A8		
6. Community Collaboration	Information	A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, A7		

1. Parenting takes place when schools: (a) help to establish home environments to support student education, (b) provide parent education through training for parents (example: GED, family literacy), (c) provide family support

- (example: health/nutrition information and community services), and (d) make home visits.
- 2. Communicating takes place when schools: (a) conference with every parent at least once a year, (b) provide language translators, and (c) send home regular notices, memos, phone calls, newsletters, and other communication.
- 3. Volunteering takes place when schools: (a) recruit and organize parents to help and support in the schools, (b) provide a parent room or family center and provide resources for parents, and (c) survey parents to identify skills and availability of volunteers.
- 4. Learning at Home takes place when schools: (a) provide information to parents on how to help students with homework, (b) provides information on academic skills required for classes, (c) provides information on homework policies, (d) and provides information how to monitor schoolwork at home.
- 5. Decision Making takes place when schools: (a) include parents in school decisions, (b) helps to develop parent leader representatives, (c) promotes an active PTO/ PTA, and (d) supports parent participation on district level advisory councils.
- 6. Collaborating with the Community takes place when schools: (a) coordinate community resources and services for families, (b) provide information on community health, cultural, and social support, (c) provide information on community activities linked to learning.

Limitations of the Study

Limiting the case study to eight school administrators allowed for in-depth interviews which eliminated the concern of semi-structured interviews not providing precise measurement. Transferability was enabled through the use of a rich, thick description of the case study interviews. (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). The participants provided through responses to the interview questions allowing profundity of the study. Also, according to Burkholder et al., sample size was not as important in qualitative case studies since the depth was more important than the breadth which eliminated the concern of transferability of the findings. The requirement of participants having experience interacting with parents and a minimum of two years' experience as a school administrator eliminated the possibility of systemic and researcher biases. Participant validation and member checks were also used.

Recommendations

Currently school administrators are doing an exceptional job in providing support to parents that may influence student achievement. The following recommendations will strengthen the support already provided to parents and may address some of the limitations associated with student achievement.

1. Parent Involvement relationship to Student Achievement - It is recommended that school administrators implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement by creating a school culture where parent involvement is valued, validated, and visible.

- 2. Role of Parents It is recommended that school administrators implement strategies to support parent involvement by giving parents more meaningful roles that may influence student achievement. Develop activities such as: (a) building positive relationships with parents, (b) involving parents in school level decision-making, and (c) providing information to parents that support student achievement.
- 3. School Role It is recommended that school administrators implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement by: (a) providing parent/family centers in schools, (b)developing parent mentoring and training opportunities, (c) providing guidance with schoolwork to be completed at home, (d) developing comprehensive programming for community partnerships, (e) providing information and access to community resources, and (f) strengthening the home visit program.
- 4. Communication Effective communication will support parent involvement and may influence student achievement. Strengthening communication strategies by:(a) providing weekly communication to parents through newsletters, emails and/or telephone calls. Boost communication strategies that are currently available such as: power school, open houses, back-to-school nights, parent-student orientations, parent-teacher conferences, and social media.
- 5. Leadership It is recommended for school administrators to strengthen school policies regarding parent involvement. School administrators can determine

- the direction of their leadership by developing and enhancing visions and mission statement. Update school goals regularly and include parents in the development.
- 6. Challenges The following challenges need to be addressed: (a) barriers related to parent noninvolvement, (b) connecting parents to community partners that provide support to them, (c) provide a comprehensive language assistance program, and (d) address transportation concerns.

Implications Positive Social Change

This study may contribute to positive social change by identifying strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. Enhancing parent involvement may improve the overall cultural of the school causing a positive influence on student achievement. There is a need for school administrators to promote positive social change. Flood (2017) found the need for educational leaders to act as social justice leaders. School administrators have the capacity to circumvent many of the barriers causing social inequalities among their students. Positive social change may occur when school administrators implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. For example, results of this case study may lead to positive social change when middle and high school administrators eliminate the concerns from parents regarding decision making, building relationships, improving communications, and receiving guidance with homework.

Many parents have difficulty participating in their child's education due to the following barriers: (a) unemployment, work schedules, language barriers,

socioeconomics, and homelessness. Parent involvement programs in schools provide support that may help ease the difficulty of barriers. Implementing parent involvement strategies through shared values, networking, and mutual support that come with schools, parents, and community working together positive social change may take place.

Kim and Bryan (2017) highlighted in their study the importance of school administrators implementing parent empowerment strategies. According to Kim and Bryan, (2017) parent empowerment is a necessary tool for combating oppression and systemic barriers. This strategy may allow school administrators to influence social change.

The methodology of this case study followed the characteristics related to qualitative research: (a) the study occurred in a natural rather than controlled setting, (b) data was collected through semistructured interviews, (c) the-participants' voice was presented in the findings, (d) may help prevent the scope of the research from expanding beyond the original intent, (e) allows for a comprehensive understanding of the case being studied, (f) allows for the exploration of everyday real-life experiences, and (g) the researcher is the primary instrument for data collection and data analysis. (Burkholder et al., 2016). I was the primary instrument of data collection and analysis. Semistructured interviews were used for data collection. I collected data from the interviews with school administrators and sorted the collected data into patterns, categories and themes.

This case study will address an identified gap in practice by examining how middle and high school administrators implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. Findings may also provide insight

to schools throughout the Midwest school district and provide insight on how to implement federal, state, and local mandates regarding parent involvement.

Implications for Future Research

The current research focused on the need for school administrators to implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement.

However, there is a need to provide future studies related to the challenge's parents face regarding involvement in their child's education. The importance of addressing the challenges regarding parent involvement was a powerful theme in the current study.

Challenges faced by parents cause a lack of parent involvement at (a) open houses, (b) extracurricular activities, (c) communication with their child's teachers and administrators, (d) lack of engagement related to homework help, and (e) lack of educational encouragement. Challenges faced by parents included but were not limited to employment, economic factors, divorce, single-parent homes, language barriers, and in some cases, homelessness. Parent involvement was affected by the presence of these barriers, which prevented them from involvement in their child's school. Parents need to overcome these challenges so they may be more effectively involved in their child's education.

Conclusion

As a result, this study confirmed the need for more thoughtful and meaningful strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement for school administrators. During this case study, I interviewed eight middle and/or high school administrators in the Midwest school district. Each administrator had more than

two years' experience as a school administrator and worked with parent involvement. This case study aligned with the research questions and purpose. This case study provides a detailed account of the participant interviews and an analysis of the strategies that middle and high school administrators implement to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. In this study, I explored the perceptions of school administrators to gain information on the effectiveness of the strategies implemented to support parent involvement.

This case study provides an in-depth description of implemented strategies used by middle and high school administrators to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement. Findings from the study provide insight on strategies to implement in support of parent involvement programs that can be used in schools throughout the district and other areas of education. Additionally, findings may provide insight on the strategies needed to support federal, state, and local mandates requiring schools to develop effective parent involvement programs.

References

- Anthony, C.J., & Ogg, J. (2019). Parent involvement, approaches to learning, and student achievement: Examining longitudinal mediation. *American Psychological Association*, 34(4), 376–385. https://dx.doi.org/10.1037/spq0000282
- Alexander, J.D., Cox, R.B., Behnke, A., & Larzelere, R. E. (2017). Is all parental "noninvolvement equal? Barriers to involvement and their relationship to Latino academic achievement. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 39 (2), 169-179. https://doi: 10.1177/0739986317700873
- Bagwell, J. L. (2019). Exploring the leadership practices of elementary school principals through a distributed leadership framework: A case study. *Educational Leadership and Administration*, 30(1), 83-103.
- Bak-Srednicka, A. (2018). Foreign language teacher education: School placements as a source of knowledge about parents as partners in the educational process.

 International Journal of Progressive Education, 14(6), 51-60. doi: 10.29329/ijpe.2018.179.4
- Barnitz, L., & Conley, S. (2020). Views of psychosocial and organizational dimensions:

 The case of two elementary school leaders. *International Journal of Educational Leadership and Management*, 8(1), 2-33.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.17583/ijelm.2020.4416
- Benner, A. D., Boyle, A.E., & Sadler, S. (2016). Parental involvement and adolescents' educational success: The roles of prior achievement and socioeconomic status.

- Journal Youth Adolescence. 45(1), 1053-1064. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-016-0431-4
- Bettini, E., Mason-Williams, L., & Barber, B. R. (2020). Access to qualified, well-supported principals across alternative educational settings and neighborhood schools. *Journal of Special Education*, 53 (4), 195-205.

 doi:10.1177/0022466919831302
- Bharagava, S., & Witherspoon, D. (2015). Parental involvement across middle and high school: Exploring contributions of individual and neighborhood characteristics.

 **Journal of Youth & Adolescence, 44(1), 1702-1719.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-015-0334-9
- Bond, M. (2019). Flipped learning and parent engagement in secondary schools: A South Australian case study. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 50 (3), 1294-1319. doi:10.1111/bjet.12765
- Burkholder, G., Cox, K.A., & Crawford, L. M. (2016). *The Scholar-Practitioner's Guide to Research Design*. Laureate Publishing.
- Camacho-Thompson, D., O'Neel, C. G., Gonzales, N.A., & Fuligni, A. J. (2016). The financial strain, major life events, and parental academic involvement during adolescence. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 45 (6), 1065-1074. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-016-0443-0

- Cheung, C. S. (2019). Parent's involvement and adolescents' school adjustment: Teacher-student relationships as a mechanism of change. *American Psychological Association*, 34 (4), 350-362. https://dx.doi.org/10.1037/spq0000288
- Corcoran, R. P. (2017). Preparing principals to improve student achievement. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, 46 (1), 769-781. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-017-9399-9
- Curry K., & Holter, A. (2019). The influence of parent social networks on parent perceptions and motivation for involvement. *Urban Education*, 54(4), 535-563. https://doi:10.1177/0042085915623334
- Day, E., & Dotterer, A. M. (2018). Parental involvement and adolescent academic outcomes: Exploring differences in beneficial strategies across racial/ethnic groups. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 47(1), 1332-1349.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-018-0853-2
- Dennis, D. V. (2016). Learning from the past: What ESSA has the chance to get right.

 The Reading Teacher, 70(4), 395-400. doi:10.1002/trtr.1538
- Duppong-Hurley, K. L., Lambert, M. C., & Huscroft D'Angelo, J. N. (2019). Comparing a framework for conceptualizing parental involvement in education between students at risk of emotional and behavioral issues and students without disabilities. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, 27(2), 67-75. https://doi:10.1177/1063426618763112
- Elbaum, B., Blatz, E.T., & Rodriguez, R. J. (2016). Parents experiences as predictors of state accountability measures of schools facilitation of parent involvement.

Remedial and Special Education, 37(1), 15-17.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932515581494

- Epstein, J. L. (2001). Introduction to the special section. New directions for school, family, and community partnerships in middle and high schools. *NASSP Bulletin*, 85(627), 3-6. https://doi.org/10.1177/019263650108562701
- Epstein, J. L. (2019). School, Family, and Community Partnerships, Your Handbook for Action. (4th ed.). Corwin.
- Erol,Y.C., & Turhan M. (2018). The relationship between distributed leadership and family involvement from parents' perspective. *Educational Sciences: Theory and Practice*, 18, 525-540. http://dx.doi.org/10.12738/estp.2018.3.0088

Flood, L. D. (2017). On becoming a social justice leader: A fictionalized narrative approach. Research in Educational Administration & Leadership, 2(1), 106-126.

https://doi.org/10.30828/real/2017.1.6

Ferrara, M. (2017). Understanding family engagement through the focus of the national standards for family-school partnerships: Secondary preservice teachers' perspectives. *School Community Journal*, 27(2), 146-166.

http://www.schoolcommunitynetwork.org/SCJ.aspx

Francis, G., Regester, A., & Reed, A. S. (2019). Barriers and supports to parent involvement and collaboration during transition to adulthood. *Career and Development and Transition for Exceptional Individuals*, 42 (4), 235-245.

doi:10.1177/2165143418813912

Garbacz, S. A., Zerr, A. A., Dishion, T. J., Seeley, J. R., & Stormshak, E. (2018).

Parent educational involvement in middle school: Longitudinal influences on student outcomes. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 38 (5), 629-660.

doi:10.1177/0272431616687670

Green, T. L. (2018). School as community, community as school: Examining principal leadership for urban school reform and community development. *Education and Urban Society*, 50(2), 111-135.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124516683997

Guillaume, R. O., Osanloo, A. F., & Kew, K. L. (2019). The principal and the pea. *Journal of Cases in Educational Leadership*, 22 (2), 39-53.

Doi: 10.1177/155545891983146

Haskins, A.R., & Jacobsen, W.C. (2017). Schools as surveilling institutions? Paternal incarceration, system avoidance, and parental involvement in schooling. *American Sociological Review*, 82(4), 657-684.

https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org

Heddy, B.C., & Sinatra, G.M. (2017). Transformative parents: Facilitating transformative experiences and interest with a parent involvement intervention.

Science Education, 101, 765-786.

https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.21292

Hermann, M., Clark, M., James-Burdumy, S., Tuttle, C., Kautz, T., Knechtel, V., Dotter, D., Wulsin, C. S., & Deke, J. (2019). The effects of a principal

professional development program focused on instructional leadership. *Institute of Education Sciences*, NCEE 2020-0002, 1-18. http://ies.ed.gov/ncee

Hill, N., Witherspoon, D., & Bartz, D. (2018). Parental involvement in education during middle school: Perspectives of ethnically diverse parents, teachers and students. *Journal of Educational Research*, 111(1), 12-27.

Huggins, K. H., Hammonds, H., & Buskey, F. (2017). Developing leadership capacity in others: An examination of high school principals' personal capacities for fostering leadership. *International Journal of Education Policy and Leadership*, 12(1), 1-15.

https://doi.org/10.22230/ijepl.2017v12n1a670

https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2016.1190910

Im, M. H., Hughes, J. N., & West, S.G. (2016). Effect of trajectories of friend's and parent's school involvement on adolescent's engagement and achievement.

*Journal of Research on Adolescence, 26(4), 963-978. doi: 10.1111/jora.12247

Kim, J., & Bryan, J. (2017). A first step to a conceptual framework of parent empowerment: Exploring relationships between parent empowerment and academic performance in a national sample. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 95, 168-179. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcad.12129

Kim, S. W. (2018). How and why fathers are involved in their children's education: Gendered model of parent involvement. *Educational Review*, 70(3), 280-299.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2017.1311304

Knapp, A., Landers, R., Liang, S., & Jefferson, V. (2017). We all as a family are graduating tonight: A case for mathematical knowledge for parental involvement. *Educational Student Math*, 95 (1), 79-95.

https://doi//10.1007/s10649-016-9741-4

Mac Iver, M. A., Epstein, J., Sheldon, S., Rice, E., Mc Iver, D., & Simmons, A. (2018). Engaging families in the high school transition: Initial findings from a continuous improvement initiative. *School Community Journal*, 28(1), 37-66. http://www.schoolcommunitynetwork.org/SCJ.aspx

Marschall, C., & Shah, P. (2020). Linking the process and outcomes of parent involvement policy to the parent involvement gap.

Urban Education, 55(5), 699-729. https://doi:1177/0042085916661386

Marshall, C., & Rossman, G.B. (2016). *Designing Qualitative Research* (6th ed.). Sage Publications. Merriam, S.B., & Grenier, R. S. (2019). *Qualitative Research in Practice* (2nd ed.). Jossey-Bass.

Merriam, S.B., & Tisdell, E.J. (2016). *Qualitative Research: A Guide to Design and Implementation* (4th ed.). Jossey-Bass.

Mombourquette, C. (2017). The role of vision in effective school leadership. *Journal of International Studies in Educational Administration*, 45(1), 19-35.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/317589799

Nunez, J. C., Epstein, J. L., Suarez, N., Rosario, P., Vallejo, G., & Valle, A. (2017). How do student prior achievement and homework behaviors relate to perceived parental involvement in homework? *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8(1), 1-13.

https://doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01217

Ogden, S.B. (2017). Becoming an educational leader for social justice: A micro/meso/macro examination of a southern U.S. principal. *Research in Educational Administration & Leadership*, 2 (1), 54-76.

Oswald, D. P., Zaidi, H. B., Cheatham, D. S., & Brody, K. G. (2018). Correlates of parental involvement in students' learning: Examination of a national data set. *Journal of Child & Family Studies*, 27(1), 316-323.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-017-0876-4

Pellecchia, M., Nuske, H.J., Straiton, D., Hassrick, E.M., Gulsrud, A., Iadarola, S., Vejnoskra, S. F., Bullen, B., Haine-Schlagel, R., Kasari, C., Mandell, D. S.,

Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2016). *Qualitative research: Bridging the Conceptual, Theoretical, and Methodological.* Sage Publications.

Reynolds, A. D., Crea, T.M., Medina, J., Degnan, E., McRoy, R. (2015). A mixed methods case study of parental involvement in an urban high school serving minority students. *Urban Education*, 50(6), 750-775.

https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0042085914534272

Schrik, P., & Wasonga, T. A. (2019). The role of a school leader in academic outcomes: Between self-efficacy and outcome expectations. *Athens Journal of Education*, 6 (4), 291-306. https://doi.org/10.30958/aje.6-4-3

Song, W., Qian, X., & Goodnight, B. (2019). Examining the roles of parents and community involvement and prevention programs in reducing school violence. *Journal of School Violence*, 18 (3), 403-420.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15388220.2018.1512415

Stefanski, A., Valli, L., & Jacobson, R. (2016). Beyond involvement and engagement: The role of the family in school-community partnerships. *School Community Journal*, 26 (2), 135-160.

https://www.schoolcommunitynetwork.org/SCJ.aspx

Taeyeon, K. (2018). Becoming skillful leaders: American school principals' transformative learning. *Educational management administration & leadership*, 48(2), 353-378. https://doi:10.1177/1741143218802596

United States Department of Education. (2019). Every student succeeds act (ESSA). https://www.ed.gov/essa

Veas, A., Castejon, J., Minano, P., & Gilar, R. (2018). Relationship between parent involvement and academic achievement through metacognitive strategies:

A multiple multilevel mediation analysis. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 89, 393-411. https://doi:10.1111/bjep.12245Duppong

Walker, J. M. T. (2016). Realizing the American dream: A parent education program designed to increase Latino family engagement in children's education. *Journal of Latinos and Education*, 15 (4), 344-357.

http:/dx.doi.org/10.1080/15348431.2015.1134536

Wang, C., Do, K. A., LaSalle, T. P., Wu, C., Sullivan, K.E. (2018). Does parental involvement matter for students' mental health in middle school?

American Psychological Association, 34 (2), 222-232.

https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000300

Wassell, B. A., Hawrylak, M. F., & Scantlebury, K. (2017). Barriers, resources, frustrations, and empathy: Teachers' expectations for family involvement for Latin/ELL students in urban stem classrooms.

Urban Education, 52(10), 1233-1254.

https://doi.org/10.1 177/00420859 1 5602539

Williams, A. D., Banerjee, M., Lozada-Smith, F., Lambouths III, D., Rowley, S. J. (2017). Black mothers' perceptions of the role of race in children's education. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 79, 932-946. DOI:10.1111/jomf.12410 Wooldridge, T., Torres Jr., M. S., Madsen, J., Fahrenwald, C., Holley, S. P. (2019). Interplay between deficit ideologies and leaders self-efficacy in drop-out prevention: A case study of U.S. urban high school principals. *Revista Panamericana De Pedagogia*, 29, 173-196.

Wright, K. B., Shields, S. M., Black, K., & Waxman, H. C. (2018). The effects of teacher home visits on student behavior, student academic achievement, and parent involvement. *School Community Journal*, 28 (1), 67-90. https://www.schoolcommunitynetwork.org/SCJ.aspx

Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case Study Research and Applications* (6th ed.). Sage Publications. Yull, D., & Wilson, M. (2018). Keeping black children pushed into, not pushed out of classrooms: Developing a race-conscious parent engagement project. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 44(2), 162-188. https://doi.org/10.1

The doctoral student is conducting a dissertation study and is approved to collect interview data from leaders (supervisors, board members, PTA leaders, community partners, state department personnel, and similar decision-makers) in support of that effort, in addition to analyzing internal, deidentified organization records* appropriate to release for this purpose.

*At the discretion of the organization's leadership, the student may analyze deidentified records including: aggregate personnel or student records that have been deidentified before being provided to the doctoral student, other deidentified operational records, teaching materials, deidentified lesson plans, meeting minutes, digital/audio/video recordings created by the organization for its own purposes, training materials, manuals, reports, partnership agreements, questionnaires that were collected under auspices of the partner organization as part of continuous improvement efforts (SIPs, for example), and other internal documents.

I understand that, as per the student doctoral program requirements, the student will publish a dissertation in ProQuest as a doctoral capstone (withholding the names of the organization and participating individuals), as per the following ethical standards:

- a. The student is required to maintain confidentiality by removing names and key pieces of evidence/data that might disclose an organization's or individual's identity.
- b. The student will be responsible for complying with policies and requirements regarding data collection (*including the need for the organization's internal ethics/regulatory approval, if applicable*).
- c. Via an Interview Consent Form, the student will describe to interviewees how the data will be used in the dissertation study and how all interviewees' privacy will be protected.

I confirm that I am authorized to approve research activities in this setting.

Signed,

Authorization Official Name Title

Appendix B: Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies have you implemented to support parent involvement at your school? (RQ 1)
- 2. When were the strategies/plan implemented? (RQ 1)
- 3. What successes were evident with the strategies/plan implemented at your school? (RQ 1)
- 4. What do you perceive as effective strategies that you have used to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement? (RQ 2)
- 5. What challenges were discovered with the strategies/plan that you implemented to support parent involvement? (RQ 1)
- 6. What data was collected in relation to the strategies/plan that you implemented? (RQ 1)
- 7. What do you perceive as the relationship between parent involvement and student achievement? (RQ 1)
- 8. What resources do you need to implement a successful parent involvement program? (RQ 2)
- 9. What institutional supports do you need from the district in support of your parent involvement efforts? (RQ 2)

Rationale

The purpose of this case study is to examine how middle and high school administrators in a Midwest school district implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence students' achievement.

Research Questions

- 1. How do middle and high school administrators implement strategies to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?
- 2. How do middle and high school administrators perceive the effectiveness of the strategies they implement to support parent involvement that may influence student achievement?

Theoretical/Conceptual Framework

Epstein's conceptual framework will inform the interview process, data analysis, and interpretation of results. Epstein utilizes six types of parent involvement strategies:

(a) parenting, (b) communicating, (c) volunteering, (d) learning at home, (e) decision-making, and (f) community collaboration.

Data Collection Procedures

- 1. Collect data through semi-structured interviews with each school administrator.
- 2. Review and analyze the data provided by the school administrators through: (a) interview responses, (b) staff meeting minutes, (c) professional development materials, and (d) calendar of events.

- 3. Analyze and make meaning of the data collected through sorting into patterns, concepts, and themes.
- 4. The data analysis will also reflect the concepts from the literature review and conceptual framework.
- 5. A thick, rich description will be summarized to reflect the strategies used to support of parent involvement that may influence student achievement.

Participant Selection

- 1. Participants will be selected using purposive sampling. (a characteristic or experience exist in certain people).
- 2. Eight to ten middle and/or high school administrators will be selected to participate in the case study.
- 3. Criteria for participants' to participate: (a) experience working with parents, and (b) a minimum of two years' experience as a school administrator.
- 4. All correspondence and communication will occur through my Walden email.
- 5. A list of potential school administrators will be generated through the Midwest school district designated research official assigned to the case study.
- 6. A consent form will provide the following information: (a) the purpose of the case study, (b) procedures to be followed during the case study and (c) benefits of the case study.
- 7. School administrators meeting the criteria to participate in the case study will be asked to reply through my Walden email with the words, "I consent."

- 8. Each interview should last approximately 45-60 minutes.
- 9. School administrators will be asked to select the time and location of the interview.

Data Analysis Procedures

- 1. Using a manual process of coding I will sort, organize, and analyze the data responses using Microsoft Excel. I will look for common words or phrases from each interview.
- 2. Collected data will go into an Excel document which will be stored on a thumb drive in a locked cabinet in my office.
- 3. I will use an inductive form of qualitative analysis where findings emerge from the data. (Yin, 2018).
- 4. Through open coding a preliminary list of patterns, concepts, and themes is developed that reflect the interview responses from the school administrators and additional data sources.
- 5. Through axial coding, the process of dissecting and reassembling, additional concepts and themes will emerge from those identified during open coding.
 - 6. Through selective coding, larger themes will emerge.
- 7. I will transcribe the data generated through audio recording verbatim into text.
 - 8. Triangulation will be used to maintain credibility.
- 9. A review of each transcript will be created and sent to the school administrator for verification of accuracy of their statements as a final debriefing and

exit to the case study. A response to questions and comments will be handled at that time.

10. At the completion of the case study, audiotapes will be destroyed.

Transcripts and any information regarding the case study will be stored in a locked file for five (5) years as required by the IRB.